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Agenda
Dear Members:
Notice is hereby given of the Annual General Meeting of the City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Ltd.,
(C.O.B.) to be held on Saturday, 26 February 2022 at the Garfield Sobers Gymnasium, Wildey, St. Michael. The
meeting is scheduled to commence at 9:30 a.m.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.

14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

20.
21.

Ascertainment of a Quorum and Call to Order
Prayers
Apologies for Absence
President’s Remarks
Acknowledgement of other organisations
Adoption of Standing Orders
Report of the Validations Committee
Commencement of voting for election to the Board of Directors, Supervisory Committee and Credit
Committee
Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on September 26, 2020
Matters Arising from the Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on September 26, 2020
Minutes of the Special General Meeting held October 17, 2020
Matters Arising from the Minutes of the Special General Meeting held October 17, 2020
Reports:
13.1.
Board of Directors
13.2.
Supervisory Committee
13.3.
Credit Committee
13.4.
Adrian Griffith Members Assistance Fund
13.5.
C.O.B. C.A.R.E.S. Maxine McClean Scholarship Fund
Consideration of the Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report for the year ended March
31, 2021
Appointment of Auditor
Close of voting for election to the Board of Directors, Supervisory Committee and Credit Committee
Fixing of Maximum Liability
Appropriation of Surplus
Results of Elections to the:
19.1.
Board of Directors
19.2.
Supervisory Committee
19.3
Credit Committee
Any Other Business
Adjournment

Henderson Williams
Secretary
Please be advised that there will be strict adherence to the COVID 19 Protocols. Please be further advised that the Credit Union will be using an electronic
counting system for the tabulating of votes at the meeting and therefore persons who will be in attendance at the meeting will be required to show their
National Identification Card at the registration process. Temperature checks and sanitisation on arrival at the complex will be conducted and you are
expected to wear face masks during the meeting. To ensure the efficient execution of the business on the day of our AGM, members are kindly requested
to avail themselves of the contents of the annual reports which can be readily accessed from our website www.cobcreditunion.com and that a copy of the
supplementary report can be obtained via an e mail request sent to 2021.agm@cobcreditunion.com or by contacting our office at 430-5900. Members are
also requested to submit their questions relative to the contents of the said reports to the e mail address 2021.agm@cobcreditunion.com.
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Credit Union Operating Principles

DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE
Open and Voluntary Membership
Membership in a Credit Union is Voluntary and open
to all within the accepted common bond of association
that can make use of its services and are willing to
accept the corresponding responsibilities.
Democratic Control
Credit Union members enjoy equal rights to vote
(one member, one vote) and participate in decisions
affecting the credit union, without regard to the
amount of savings, deposits or the volume of business.
Voting in credit union-support organizations or
associations may be proportional or representational
in keeping with demographic principles. The credit
union is autonomous, within the framework of law
and regulation, recognizing the credit union as a cooperative enterprise serving and controlled by its
members. Credit Union elected offices are voluntary
in nature and incumbents should not receive a salary.
However, credit unions may re-imburse legitimate
expenses incurred by elected officials.
Non-Discrimination
Credit Unions are non-discriminatory in relation to
race, nationality, sex, religion and politics.
These Credit Union Operating Principles are founded
in the philosophy of co-operation and its central values
of equality and manual self-help. Recognising the
varied practices in the implementation of credit union
philosophy around the world at the heart of these
principles is the concept of human development and
the brotherhood of man expressed through people
working together to achieve a better life for themselves
and their community.

Service to Members
Credit Union services are directed to improve the
economic and social well being of all members.
Distribution to Members
To encourage thrift through savings and thus to
provide loans and others services, a fair rate of interest
is paid on savings and deposits, within the capability of
the credit union.
The surplus arising out of the operations of the credit
union after payment of limited dividends on permanent
equity capital where it exists, belongs to and benefits
all members with no member or group of members
benefiting to the detriment of others. This surplus
may be distributed among members in proportion
to their transactions with the credit union as interest
or patronage refunds, or directed to improved or
additional services required by members.

Building Financial Stability
A prime concern of the credit union is to build the
financial strength, including adequate reserves and
internal controls that will ensure continued service to
the membership.

SOCIAL GOALS
On-going Education
Credit Unions actively promote the education of their
members, officers and employees, along with the
public in general, in the economic, social, democratic
and mutual self-help principles of credit unions. The
promotion of thrift and the wise use of credit, as well
as education on the rights and responsibilities of
members, are essential to the dual social and economic
character of credit unions in serving member needs.
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Co-operation among Co-operatives
In keeping with their philosophy and the pooling practices of co-operatives, credit unions within their capability
actively co-operate with other credit unions, co-operatives and their associations at local, national and
international levels in order to best serve the interest of their members and their communities.
Social Responsibility
Continuing the ideals and beliefs of co-operative pioneers, credit unions seek to bring about human and social
justice that extends to both the individual members and to the larger community in which they work and reside.
The credit union ideal is to extend service to all who need and can use it. Every person is either a member
or a potential member and appropriately part of the credit union sphere of interest and concern. Decisions
should be taken with full regard for the interest of the broader community within which the credit union and its
members reside.

The Credit Union Prayer
Lord
Make me an instrument of thy peace
Where there is hatred, let me sow love
Where there is injury, pardon
Where there is doubt, faith
Where there is despair, hope
Where there is darkness, light
And where there is sadness, joy.
O Divine Master
Grant that I may not so much seek
To be consoled as to console
To be understood as to understand
To be loved as to love
For it is in giving, that we receive
It is in pardoning, that we are pardoned
And it is in dying that we are born to eternal Life.
This is the Prayer of St. Francis of the Assisi. It is used almost
universally throughout the world as a Credit Union Opening
Prayer at Board Meetings and Shareholders Meetings.
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Corporate
Information
WHO WE ARE

City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union
Ltd. (C.O.B.) is a financial institution operating on
co-operative principles with a purpose-driven,
principles-led approach to delivering leading
performance. Our success comes from our people
who bring our vision, values and strategy to life so
we can help our members thrive and communities
prosper. As one of the leading financial institutions
operating in Barbados, we have a diversified business
model with a focus on innovation and providing
exceptional experiences to our 60,000 members in
Barbados, the Caribbean, USA, Canada, England and
several other countries.

WHY BECOME A MEMBER?
•
•
•
•
•

Market leader with a focused growth strategy
Proven business model
Financial strength underpinned by prudent
risk and cost management
Innovation is in our DNA
A Leading corporate citizen

PURPOSE DRIVEN

Vision: To be the preferred financial institution for
our members

HOW WILL WE WIN
•
•
•
•
•

Sustainable Growth
Exceptional Member Experience
Community & Social Impact
Best Talent
Simplify, Agile, Innovate

OUR STRATEGY FOR SUCCESS

Our strategy is deeply rooted in our commitment
to our members and communities. Our vision and
our goals reflect our long-term focus and our values
guide our day-to-day actions. In a rapidly changing
environment, we have capabilities, strengths and a
business model that positions C.O.B for continued
growth. Our success is built on the following strategic
pillars:

Respect for our valued members
We hold the opinions of every member in
the highest regard. Our decisions are truly
influenced by the wishes and needs of our
members

Integrity & Transparency
Trust, candor, honesty and sincerity
pervade all of our decisions. We also
encourage our employees and officers
to live by these values in their personal
and working lives
Service quality
We are committed to satisfying our
members by delivering products and
services and achieving results which
exceed their expectations. We seek to
“Do the Right Thing Right, On Time- The
First Time, Every Time”.
Innovation
We encourage and reward innovation,
creativity and resourcefulness. Further
we invest in the training and education
of our employees to make them leaders
in their fields

Teamwork &
Cooperation
We promote and adopt policies and
practices that support the attainment of
the organization’s vision, mission and goals
through team effort. We recognize the
importance of the contribution of every
member of ‘Team C.O.B’ to our success.
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Corporate Information
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Adlai Stevenson, BSc. (Hons) LLB, MBA					
–
Mrs. Celeste Foster								–
Mr. James Paul, BSc.
							
–
Mr. Henderson Williams, BSc. (Hons) MSc., CIPD, Cert.Mkg, Acc.dir		
–
–
Mr. Kemar Cumberbatch, BSc., Dip.Ed. (Dist.)				
Senator Dr. Lynette Holder, MBA, MSc, M.Th.,ThD				
–
Mr. Kenneth Gittens, JP							–

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Mr. M. Kenneth Dash								–
Mr. Curtis Cave, LLB (Hons), LEC						
–
Ms. Janet Taylor, LLB (Hons), LEC						
–
Ms. Amanda Forde, BA. (Hons), MA. (Merit) LLB(Hons), LEC 			
–
–
Mr. Lindell Earle, BSc., CPA, CGA, MBA, FCA					

CREDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Maurice Mason 								–
Ms. Danielle Rock, CPA,CGA,CA, BSc.(Hons)					
–
Mrs. Cyriline Wilkie-Warner							–
Mrs. Latoya Davis 								–
Mr. G. Andrew Puckerin							–

President
Vice President
Treasurer
Secretary
Assistant Secretary
Director		
Director
Chairman
Vice Chairman
Secretary
Member
Member
Chairman
Vice Chairman
Secretary
Member
Member

REGISTERED OFFICE
COB Business Centre
Lower Broad Street
Bridgetown
St. Michael

BANKERS
Republic Bank (B’dos) Ltd. CIBC FirstCaribbean			
First Citizens Bank (B’dos) Ltd.
Independence Square		
International Bank (B’dos) Ltd.
Broad Street
Bridgetown			Broad Street				Bridgetown
				Bridgetown
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Board of Directors

Mr. Adlai Stevenson
President

Mr. Kemar Cumberbatch
Assistant Secretary

Mrs. Celeste Foster
Vice President

Mr. James Paul
Treasurer

Sen. Dr. Lynette Holder
Director

Mr. Henderson Williams
Secretary

Mr. Kenneth Gittens
Director

Supervisory Committee

Mr. M. Kenneth Dash
Chairman

Mr. Curtis Cave
Vice Chairman

Ms. Janet Taylor
Secretary

Ms. Amanda Forde
Member

Mr. Lindell Earle
Member

Mrs. Cyriline Wilkie-Warner
Secretary

Mrs. Latoya Davis
Member

Mr. G. Andrew Puckerin
Member

Credit Committee

Mr. Maurice Mason
Chairman

Ms. Danielle Rock
Vice Chairman
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Our Operational Team
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Mr. Glendon S Belle, FCCA, F.C.A, MBA, Dip CU Mgmt.
Mr. Norman Belgrave, FCCA, BSc.				
Mr. Ryan Greaves, A+,MCSE,MCSA,CCNA, BSc., MBA		
Mrs. Charmaine Napoleon-Ramsay, BSc. (Hons),
Dip Ed, MBA							
Mr. Ronnie Norville, CPA, CGA				
Ms. Samantha Greenidge, LLB Hons, LLM 			
Mr. Algernon Yearwood, Dip. Mgmt, MBA			

-

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial & Risk Officer
Chief Technology Officer

-

Chief Human Resources Officer
Chief Internal Auditor
Chief Legal & Compliance Officer
Chief Operations Officer

MIDDLE MANAGEMENT

Mr. Winston Alleyne, Dip. Mgmt				
Mrs. Suzanne Brice-Haynes, MSc.				
Ms. Janelle Cato						Mr. Winston Davis						
Ms. Judie Gill 							Mr. Joseph Holder						Mr. Creig Jones						Mrs. Barbara Langdon-Thompson				
Mrs. Alison Lynch, BSc. (Hons)				
Ms. Wendy Springer, Dip. Finance & Banking			
-

SENIOR SUPERVISORY

Ms Angela D Beckles, BCMS (Gen Mgmt), ACS, APS		
Mr. Richard Blenman						
Ms. Anmaria Bourne						
					
Mr. Philip Eno, BSc.
Mrs. Reneé Estwick, Dip. Mgmt				
Mrs. Cindy Greaves-Gibson					
Mr. Rawle McClean						
Mrs. Joyann Quintyne-Grimes, BSc.				
Ms. Keisha Watson						
Ms. Krystal Watson 						

SUPERVISORY

Ms Sharon Corbin, APS					
Mrs. Doriel Dowell, ACS (Dist.), APS (Dist.)			
Mr. Jamal Jordan, BSc. (Hons)					
Mrs. Evelina King-Harper, ACS, BSc.				
Ms. Deborah Payne, APS					
Mrs. Virginia Remise						
Ms. Fran A. Scott 						
Ms. Jamila Thompson, BSc.					
Mrs. Gaynelle Trotman, ACAM				

ACCOUNTS, FINANCE & INVESTMENTS

Ms. Ruth Connell, BSc.					
Mrs. Lisa Wood 						
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Marketing Manager
Branch Manager – Six Roads
Collections Manager
Branch Manager - Carlton
Accounting Manager
Lending Manager
Member Relations Executive
Member Care Manager
Branch Manager - Broad Street
Branch Manager – Manor Lodge

–

Branch Officer – Broad Street
Senior Credit Officer
Branch Officer – Manor Lodge
Human Resources Officer
Branch Officer – Carlton
Senior Member Care Officer
Property Officer
Senior Audit Officer
Branch Officer – Six Roads
Senior Collections Clerk

-

Executive Secretary (HR/Admin)
Executive Secretary (Loans)
Database Administrator
Executive Secretary (C.E.O Office)
Executive Secretary (Board)
Member Care Officer
Executive Secretary (Legal)
Member Services Officer
Human Resources Officer

-

Accounting Officer
Accounting Officer

		

Our Executive Team

Mr. Glendon S Belle
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Norman Belgrave
Chief Financial & Risk Officer

Mr. Ronnie Norville
Chief Internal Auditor

Ms. Samantha Greenidge
Chief Legal & Compliance
Officer

Mr. Ryan Greaves
Chief Technology Officer

Mrs. Charmaine Napoleon-Ramsay
Chief Human Resources Officer

Mr. Algernon Yearwood
Chief Operations Officer

Our Management Team

Mr. Winston Alleyne
Marketing Manager

Mrs. Suzanne
Brice-Haynes
Branch Manager –
Six Roads

Ms. Janelle Cato
Collections Manager

Mr. Winston Davis
Branch Manager –
Carlton

Mr. Joseph Holder
Lending Manager

Mr. Creig Jones
Member Relations
Executive

Mrs. Alison Lynch
Branch Manager –
Broad Street

Ms. Wendy Springer
Branch Manager –
Manor Lodge

Ms. Judie Gill
Accounting Manager
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COLLECTIONS

Mrs. Althea Graham, BSc.					
Mr. Corey Harding						
Ms. Shaunelle Sealy						
Mrs. Keri Belle- Baptiste					
Mr. Leon Mayers						Ms. Sherry-Ann Howell, APS					
-

C.O.O OFFICE

Ms. Kelly Kirton						
Ms. Susan Roach						
Mrs. Deirdre Thompson Carrington, BSc.			
Ms. Keita Haynes, BSc. (Hons), MSc.				
Ms. Keisha Howard-Hall, BSc.					

-

HUMAN RESOURCES & ADMINISTRATION

Ms. Rosemary King						Ms. Marina Mason						Ms. Pauline Mayers 						Mr. Collis Lynch						Mr. Steven Edwards						Mr. Elvis Walters						-

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Ms. Halishia Springer, Associate Degree			
Mr. Michael Roberts, CCNA					

INTERNAL AUDIT

Ms. Patrina Phillips, BSc.					
Mr. Jermaine Payne, BSc.					
Ms. Shondeb Sealy, BSc.					

LEGAL AND SECURITIES

Ms. Mia Doyle, LLB						
Mr. Garreth Nelson, BA, CFE, AMLCA				
Ms. J. Natasha Trotman					
Mrs. Karene Small, BSc.					

Collections Officer
Collections Officer
Collections Officer
Collections Clerk
Collections Clerk
Administrative Assistant
Administrative Officer
Special Projects Officer
Operations/Research Officer
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Administrative Clerk
Administrative Clerk
Administrative Clerk
Messenger
Property Assistant
Property Assistant

-

Network Technician
Network Technician

-

Audit Officer
Quality Assurance Clerk
Quality Assurance Clerk

-

Junior Legal Officer
Compliance Officer
Legal & Securities Officer
Legal & Securities Clerk

LOANS UNDERWRITING & ADMINISTRATION BROAD STREET BRANCH
Mr. Shane Archer						
Ms Yvette Evelyn						
Mr. Sean Carter						
Mrs. Donna Eristhee, Dip. Mgmt				
Ms. Camille Jack						
Mr. Bernard Simmons						Mrs. Alison Rudder						
-

Credit Officer
Credit Officer
Credit Officer
Credit Clerk
Credit Clerk
Credit Clerk
Disbursement Officer

LOANS UNDERWRITING & ADMINISTRATION MANOR LODGE BRANCH
Mrs. Camille Harvey						

-

Credit Officer

LOANS UNDERWRITING & ADMINISTRATION CARLTON BLACK ROCK BRANCH
Mrs. Yvonne Cottle-Hinds					
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-

Credit Officer

Our Supervisory Team

Ms Angela D Beckles
Branch Officer –
Broad Street

Mrs. Cindy
Greaves-Gibson
Senior Member Care
Officer

Mr. Richard Blenman
Senior Credit Officer

Mr. Rawle McClean
Property Officer

Mr. Philip Eno
Human Resources Officer

Mrs. Joyann
Quintyne-Grimes
Senior Audit Officer

Ms. Krystal Watson
Senior Collections
Clerk

Ms. Keisha Watson
Branch Officer –
Six Roads

Senior Collections Clerk
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LOANS UNDERWRITING & ADMINISTRATION SIX ROADS
Natasha Clarke						

-

Credit Officer

MARKETING, MEMBER CARE AND CONTACT CENTER
Ms. Shanelle Howell, BSc.					
Mr. Jamal Maynard 						Mr. Dave Kellman 						Ms. Jalissa Cummins, BSc.					
Ms. Nicole Harper						Ms. Gillian Mahon						Ms. Leah Morris						
Ms. Malisa Norville						
Ms. Donnelle Stanford					
Ms. Kathryn Thornton						
Ms. Tianna Walters						Ms. Natalie Watson						
-

MEMBER SERVICES BROAD STREET

Ms. Lyrissa Austin						Mr. Shon Chandler, Associate Degree			
Ms. Jalisa Goodridge, BSc.					
Mr. Kevin Griffith						
Mr. Tarique Griffith						
Mrs. Ingrid Haynes						Mr. John Howard						Mrs. Cherisse Joseph						Ms. Kayla King, BSc.						
Mr. Akeem Nero						
Ms. Khadija Payne, Associate Degree				
Ms. Brittany Taylor, BSc.					
-

MEMBER SERVICES MANOR LODGE

Ms. Lieann Connell-Forde					
Ms. Vanessa Graham-Lynch, BSc. (Hons)			
Ms. Keira Greaves						Mr. Darion Griffith, Associate Degree				
Ms. Katrina Haynes, Associate Degree			
Ms. Christie Holder						Ms. Nakisha Price, BSc.					
-

MEMBER SERVICES CARLTON BLACK ROCK

Mrs. Akaia Archer						
Mr. Mark Bourne, BSc. (Hons)					
Ms. Destiny Clarke						Mr. Corey Harewood						Mr. Kevin Howard						Ms. Shakelia Payne						Mrs. Carol Williams						-

MEMBER SERVICES SIX ROADS BRANCH

Mr. Mario Best						Mrs. Aryanyenny Bruno-Smart, Associate Degree		
Mr. Zavier Dorant						Ms. Shannda Harewood, BSc. (Hons)				
Mr. Shakeem Jones						Mr. Brandon Walker, BSc.
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Marketing Assistant
Marketing Assistant
Marketing Assistant
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Care Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative

Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative
Member Services Representative

President’s Message
Against the backdrop of the COVID 19 pandemic, the
past year was particularly challenging for all of us
as Barbados experienced, in a rather telling
way, the true meaning of existing in the
21st Century “global village”. When COVID
19 first surfaced as a mysterious viral
illness in China in December 2019, few
envisaged it would have spread so
rapidly across the world, engulfing
countries and exacting a human toll
on a scale unprecedented in our
lifetime.
While Barbados has been relatively
successful in containing the
spread of the virus and avoiding
the harrowing outcomes seen in
many countries, COVID 19 has had
a particularly devastating impact
on our economy and livelihoods.
International
travel
restrictions
crippled tourism for most of the past
year and, as it is our biggest industry and
export earner, there was a ripple effect
across the economy. Faced with slumping
demand, there was a significant decline in
business activity and thousands, including some
of our members, found themselves jobless overnight.
With output declining a record 18 per cent last year,
as reported by the Central Bank, and persisting
recessionary conditions into the first half of this year,
the fall-out from the pandemic has significantly set
back the prospects of a much-hoped-for economic
recovery. It has also weakened the social fabric of our
society. The dominance of adverse conditions defined
the business environment during the 2020-21 financial
year and presented major challenges for our Credit
Union.
Through the determination and focus of the Board,
working closely with Management and staff, we have
weathered the storm and in the face of overwhelming
odds, have delivered positive results another year.
Though lower than previous years, our 2020-21 results
represent a commendable achievement in a business
landscape where losses have become a norm and profits
an exception. For this achievement, the Board conveys
its thanks and appreciation to our Management, staff

and also our members for their continuing strong
commitment and support.

2020-21 Performance Results
As we have seen during this most challenging period,
the sustained multiyear investments in our people,
processes and technology have proven to be the
correct ones. The past year has demonstrated the
critical role that credit unions play in our society.
Indeed, during the period, several banks reached
out to us to assist them in meeting the needs of their
customers through the facilitation of their payroll
payments. The pandemic which has created a public
health crisis has underscored the importance of
a strategic coordinated response from the public,
private and charitable sectors in addressing a crisis of
such proportions. It has brought to the fore the need
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for strong collaboration between financial institutions and government in supporting families and businesses
during their time of great need. You will learn about specific COB support measures in the following pages of
this report and I hope that it will bring you immense satisfaction about the way your Credit Union responded
during this crisis.

Membership and assets under management

Analysis of net surplus statement
35.0
68.0
30.0

700.0
66.6

29.2

65.8

66.0
25.0

23.1
21.3

20.2

19.2

20.0

18.8

18.7

540.9

500.0

63.7
474.6

19.1

18.7

16.2

15.0

64.0

600.0
580.0

506.3

437.7

62.0

400.0

61.5

60.0

300.0

59.5

10.0

5.0

3.4

0.0

Mar - 17

2.1

Mar - 18

58.0

200.0

56.0

100.0

4.4

4.0

Mar - 19

Mar - 20

Mar - 21

54.0

Mar - 17

(5.0)

Mar - 18

Mar - 19

Membership in 000's

Mar - 20

0.0

Mar - 21

Total assets under management in $ millions

(7.9)

(10.0)

Net surplus before distribution in $ millions

Net interest and income in $ millions

Total expenditure in $ millions

Return on average assets

Deposits and member loans

Members' capital and assets under management

600.0

12.0%

700.0
527.3
489.5

500.0

600.0

456.7

580.0
9.6%

10.0%

418.8
400.0

300.0

506.3
500.0

384.5

324.5

340.8

10.0%

540.9

345.0

349.5

474.6

8.0%

437.7

349.1

8.0%

7.9%

7.6%

400.0
6.0%

200.0

300.0

100.0

200.0

4.0%

0.0
Mar - 17

Mar - 18

Mar - 19

Deposits and regulatory capital in $ millions

Mar - 20

Mar - 21

2.0%

100.0
43.7

Loans to members in $ millions

45.6

43.9

43.4

39.8

0.0
Mar - 17

Mar - 18
Total assets under management in $ millions
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Mar - 19

Mar - 20

Total members' equity in $ millions

Mar - 21
Capital ratio

0.0%

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

57.4

59.5

61.5

63.7

65.8

66.6

410.2

437.7

474.6

506.3

540.9

580.0

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

Deposits and regulatory capital in $ millions

358.2

384.5

418.8

456.7

489.5

527.3

Loans to members in $ millions

309.9

324.5

340.8

345.0

349.5

349.1

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

410.2

437.7

474.6

506.3

540.9

580.0

42.3

43.7

45.6

39.8

43.4

43.9

10.3%

10.0%

9.6%

7.9%

8.0%

7.6%

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

Net interest and other income in $ millions

17.6

19.2

20.2

21.3

23.1

21.2

Total expenditure in $ millions

14.6

18.8

16.2

29.2

18.7

19.1

3.0

3.4

4.0

(7.9)

4.4

2.1

0.8%

0.8%

0.9%

-1.6%

0.8%

0.4%

Membership in 000’s

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

Under 25 years of age

10.0

10.3

10.5

10.8

11.1

10.7

25 to 40 years of age

13.8

13.9

14.0

14.0

13.9

13.8

40 to 60 years of age

13.0

13.0

12.9

12.9

12.9

12.9

50 to 60 years of age

12.0

12.6

13.1

13.7

14.0

14.2

over 60 years of age

8.6

9.7

11.0

12.4

13.8

15.0

57.4

59.5

61.5

63.7

65.8

66.6

Mar-16

Mar-17

Mar-18

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

Under 25 years of age

17.5%

17.4%

17.1%

16.9%

16.9%

16.1%

25 to 40 years of age

24.0%

23.3%

22.7%

21.9%

21.2%

20.7%

40 to 60 years of age

22.6%

21.8%

21.0%

20.2%

19.6%

19.3%

50 to 60 years of age

20.9%

21.2%

21.4%

21.5%

21.3%

21.3%

over 60 years of age

15.0%

16.3%

17.9%

19.5%

21.0%

22.6%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Membership in 000’s
Total assets under management in $ millions

Total assets under management in $ millions
Total members' equity in $ millions
Capital ratio

Net surplus before distributions in $ millions
Return on average assets

% Concentration - Membership by Age
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% of membership by age of member

100.0%
15.0%

16.3%

17.9%

19.5%

21.0%

22.6%

20.9%

21.2%

21.4%

21.5%

21.3%

21.3%

22.6%

21.8%

21.0%

20.2%

19.6%

19.3%

80.0%

60.0%

40.0%
24.0%

23.3%

22.7%

21.9%

21.2%

20.7%

17.5%

17.4%

17.1%

16.9%

16.9%

16.1%

Mar - 16

Mar - 17

Mar - 18

Mar - 19

Mar - 20

Mar - 21

20.0%

0.0%

Under 25 years of age

25 to 40 years of age

40 to 60 years of age

50 to 60 years of age

over 60 years of age

For 2020-21, City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit
Union Ltd achieved a net surplus before distributions
of $2.1 million which represents a decline of $2.3
million on the previous year. The decline reflects a
projected $1.9 million increase in credit losses on
loans as a result of the adverse impact of COVID-19
on our members’ finances. Notwithstanding, surpluses
are meant to be shared among members. The Board,
therefore, is recommending a dividend payment of
one per cent.
Supporting members experiencing difficulty meeting
loan repayment commitments because of changed
financial circumstances, occupied a lot of our
attention during the past year. Such cases are usually
sensitive and resolving them involves balancing the
member’s needs against the interests of the Credit
Union and seeking to arrive at a mutually satisfactory
arrangement. In keeping with our Credit Union’s
“people first” philosophy, we took an empathetic
approach to understanding each case and, up to
the time of writing, had granted relief in the form of
moratoriums totalling $53.1 million to 827 members.
Under the arrangement, these members were in the
first instance granted a waiver of principal and interest
for a maximum of six months. For those further
affected, interest only payments were allowed up a to
a maximum period of three years.
Influenced by prevailing market conditions, the key
performance indicators registered mixed results for
the past year. In the face of weak demand, our loan
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portfolio grew marginally by just under one per cent to
reach $359.0 million at year-end. A projected increase
in loan delinquency was contained to a modest 2.2
per cent as members felt the impact of the pandemic
in their pockets. Members’ savings, on the other
hand, grew by 7.7 per cent amid evidence of a steady
migration of deposits from the banking sector to the
credit union movement.
During the year, COB Credit Union welcomed an
additional 800 persons and also saw a 7.2 per cent
increase in total assets under management. Rising
savings, in a market with dwindling investment
opportunities to support a concomitant growth of
interest income, represent an emerging challenge
which the Board is carefully monitoring and proactively addressing. More detailed commentary on
this year’s performance is provided in the Board of
Directors’ Report.

Theme
Reflecting on the experience of the past decade, it
is fair to say that Barbadians have encountered a
great deal of adversity in our continuous quest for
development and improvement in our quality of life.
After grappling for many years with a sluggish, underperforming economy which had been dealt a severe
blow by the 2007-09 global recession, we helplessly
witnessed the entry of the COVID-19 pandemic just as
the prospects of a turnaround were beginning to look
more favourable.
Additionally, we were blanketed recently with volcanic
ash over several days following the eruption of Mount
Soufriere in neighbouring St Vincent and then Elsa
became the first hurricane to pay us a visit in 65 years.
Both events, which left costly damage, have only
compounded the island’s economic challenges. Many
Barbadians have understandably grown weary of the
stresses of adversity and are hoping for the arrival of
better days.
“Beyond Adversity to Opportunity”, the theme of this
year’s Annual General Meeting, draws attention to
the major difference which a change of thinking and
perspective can make in the face of adversity. Our
human nature inclines us to focus on the negative side
-- the things which are stressing us out -- but there
is a positive side as well. There is always opportunity
amid adversity! It may be hidden from our view by

the dark clouds of adversity but it is always there, just
waiting to be identified through a shift in thinking and
perspective.
Circumstances will change from time to time but, for
us as a financial services provider, our members will
always have needs that present us with an opportunity
to make a difference. As I reflect on the past 18 months
in particular with a view to identifying meaningful
lessons for the future, I see a great opportunity for our
Credit Union to be more innovative. Maybe we should
explore a unique product designed to cushion the
impact of future adversity for our members. Maybe
we should revisit how loan agreements are presently
structured to allow a bit more flexibility in cases of
adversity.
These are just random ideas but they demonstrate
how the leadership is looking “Beyond Adversity to
Opportunity” to make the Credit Union more relevant
to members’ needs going into the future. The present
spell of adversity will not last forever. Like everything
else, it too eventually will come to an end. We must
therefore seize the opportunity now to shape the
future which will emerge after this trying period
passes. As your Board looks to make our Credit Union
better and more relevant, we welcome the ideas and
suggestions of members as they can add value to our
deliberations.

has to be maintained for the foreseeable future.
At this time, I take this opportunity to appeal for a more
united credit union. Organizations are always best
positioned to deal with adversity when presenting a
united front. To quote the J.K Rowling-created fictional
character, Albus Dumbledore, “We are only as strong
as we are united, as weak as we are divided.” Naturally,
I do not expect everyone to see eye to eye on every
issue every time. That is an impossibility. However,
the opportunity always exists to achieve consensus
because there are more things that unite us than divide
us. The Board and Management are fully committed to
facilitating a more united credit union.

Appreciation
I wish to place on record my thanks and appreciation
to fellow Board members, Management, staff and
our valued members for their loyalty, support and
important contributions to helping us weather the
storm during the past year. I also wish to recognize
the valuable contributions of outgoing Directors, Bro.
Henderson Williams and Bro. James Paul, who, having
served two consecutive terms, are ineligible for reelection.
Let’s look “Beyond Adversity to Opportunity” and face
the future with confidence together!

Outlook
Looking ahead, we are guardedly optimistic amid the
uncertainty which continues to define the landscape.
Once there are no major setbacks in the continuing
battle to contain the pandemic or any additional
adversity, we anticipate that there will be a gradual
pick-up in economic activity. Once the momentum is
sustained and drives a recovery of employment and
consumer demand, we expect that there will be an
improvement in the fortunes of our Credit Union.

Adlai Stevenson
President

On the official level, the Central Bank has forecast a
modest recovery with growth in the range of one
to three per cent in 2021. However, it made two
observations: high levels of unemployment and underemployment are likely to remain and, secondly, “some
further deterioration in non-performing loans is to
be expected but the financial system should remain
stable.” As the latter has implications for our Credit
Union, it means really strong financial management
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Report of the Board of Directors
After an exceptionally turbulent year defined by the
disruption and devastating impact of the COVID 19
pandemic on practically every aspect of Barbadian life,
your Board of Directors is pleased to report that City of
Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Ltd achieved a
net surplus before distributions of $2.1 million for the
financial year ended March 31, 2021.
This positive result, though representing a decline
of $2.3 million on the previous year, is a major
achievement given the considerable odds which our
Credit Union was up against amidst the fall-out from
the pandemic. Furthermore, in the prevailing climate
where there has been significant decline in business
activity, posting losses has become more of a norm
than an exception across the board.
Last year’s decline in net surplus stems from a
projected $1.9 million increase in credit losses on loans
as a direct consequence of the pandemic’s impact on
the financial circumstances of indebted members.
Notwithstanding, your Board is recommending a
dividend of one per cent. Coming at a time when
personal incomes are under pressure because of job
losses or reduced working hours, it is our hope that
this payment, though lower than the previous year,
will help in some way to lift the spirits of our members.
Major credit must go to our dedicated Management
and hardworking staff. Throughout this crisis,
Team COB has stuck to the task in the face of great
anxiety and inconvenience to ensure that the needs
of our members were fully taken care of. We cannot
thank them enough. As a gesture of the Board’s and
Management’s appreciation, each staff member
recently received a modest honorarium amounting
altogether to $55,000 which was calculated with
consideration of the Credit Union’s own present
circumstances.
Across the economy, thousands of Barbadians have
either lost their jobs or placed on reduced working
hours as a result of the pandemic. Your Board is
pleased to report there were no job losses at COB
during the year under review. We are also happy to
report that none of our staff members contracted
COVID 19, an indication of the commitment shown
by the entire organization to learn and adhere to the
necessary health protocols.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Altogether, our key performance indicators showed
mixed results for the past year with improvements in
some areas and declines in others. Notwithstanding
additional challenges stemming from the COVID 19
pandemic, the fundamentals of our Credit Union
remain strong.
With continued tight management of resources,
prudent decision-making, creative problem-solving
informed by outside the box thinking, the continued
support of our members, staff, and other stakeholders,
and our strategic focus on identifying and capitalizing
on the “opportunity” instead of dwelling on the
“adversity” resulting from COVID 19, your Board is
confident our Credit Union will weather the storm and
emerge better and stronger.
Following are major performance highlights for 202021.
Assets
Total assets under management stood at $580 million
at year-end, an increase of $39.1 million or 7.2 per
cent over the previous year. This result was driven by a
growth of $37.8 million or 7.7 per cent in funds held by
members in deposits and regulatory capital.
Savings
Following a 7.7 per cent growth, members’ savings
inclusive of shares at year-end stood at $ 527.3 million,
37.8 million higher than the previous year. A significant
contributor to this result was the continued migration
of deposits from commercial banks to the credit union
sector. The move reflects increase confidence in the
management of your Credit Union by the discerning
public .
While the Board is naturally delighted that more
Barbadians are turning to our Credit Union as their
preferred choice for financial services, continued
robust growth of deposits, in the face of a dearth of
investment opportunities to generate adequate levels
of interest income, is likely to present challenges in the
years ahead unless this issue is effectively addressed.
The Board is carefully monitoring a present situation
of excess liquidity and will take appropriate action as
may be required.

Loans
Reflecting weak demand in an economy which was
already struggling pre-COVID 19, only to receive a
setback through a severe battering from the pandemic
which suddenly sprang on us, loans to members
grew marginally last year by 0.7 per cent or $2.4
million compared to 1.3 per cent in 2019-2020. This
result reflected the continuation of a sluggish growth
trend over the past few years largely in response to
employment uncertainty.
Altogether, loans increased to $359.1 million from
$356.7 million in 2020, a growth of just over $2.0 million.
Meanwhile, year-to-date loan interest amounted to
$19.4 million, down from $20.6 million in 2020 and
$21.0 million the year before. Average annualized
loan yield was 5.4 per cent compared to 5.8 per cent in
2020 and 6.0% the previous year.
Meanwhile, efforts are already underway to boost the
loan portfolio and comprehensive research is near
completion to inform us how we can best achieve
this objective. Special attention will be placed on
the under 40 year-old segment of our membership
which represents 26.5 per cent of the total number of
borrowers and accounts for 23.0 per cent of the total
value of loans.
During the year under review, delinquent loans
increased by $8.2 million to $49.6 million from $41.3

• Opening of
Six Roads Branch

million to $49.6 million. As some indebted members
came under financial pressure either as a result of
either losing their jobs or being placed on reduced
working hours as a consequence of the pandemic,
delinquent loans increased by $8.2 million from
$41.3 million to $49.6 million. As a consequence, the
delinquency ratio moved from 11.6 per cent in 2020 to
13.8 per cent in 2021.
As our Credit Union is a members-focused organization
committed to promoting their welfare and development,
supporting those members who reported they were
in financial distress became a priority through loan
payment deferments. The solution was a moratorium
involving 827 loans -- representing 7.7 per cent of the
total number of loans -- with a total principal value
of $53.1 million. Fortunately, the level of delinquency
in this segment was 6.7 per cent compared with the
respective projected 17.4 per cent as a best-case result.
Membership
Membership stood at 66,600 at the end of the financial
year, up by an additional 800 persons from 67,800 in
the previous year. There were 10,700 members under
25 years of age, accounting for 16.1 per cent of the
total membership. On the other hand, there were
29,200 members over 50 years old who represented
43.9 per cent of the total membership. During the
year, the number of persons in this age category grew
by 1,400 persons.

• Six Roads Launch

• Opening of
Six Roads Branch
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OTHER 2020-21 HIGHLIGHTS/ACTIVITIES

New COB Branch:
On December 16, 2020, COB Credit Union officially
moved into the east with the opening of our fourth
branch at Six Roads, St Philip. Built at a cost of $3.3
million and employing close to 25 persons, it is our
Credit Union’s first branch outside urban St Michael.
Purposefully designed to function as a “virtual” branch,
in addition to offering all of the other services available
at our other three locations, Six Roads is uniquely
equipped with the technological capacity to support
the continued smooth running of our full business
operations during an emergency.
Over the years, COB has made a sizeable investment
in the development of our people and it has paid off
for both sides. The aim is to equip our employees
with the knowledge and skills, in the face of
technological and other market changes, to benefit
from opportunities for upward mobility within our
expanding organization. With the opening of the Six
Roads branch, opportunities at the management
level became available that allowed two longstanding
employees to move up in our organization.
Ms. Suzanne Bryce-Haynes, who has served our Credit
Union in various roles over the years, the last being
Collections Manager, was appointed branch manager
at Six Roads. Following Ms. Bryce-Haynes’ promotion,
Ms. Janelle Cato moved up from Senior Collections
Officer to Collections Manager. The Board extends
congratulations to them both and wishes them well in
their new roles.

Card products and merchant services
As the global community steadily moves towards a
cashless future, business transactions are increasingly
being conducted using plastic. The trend already is
quite evident in Barbados. To ensure that our Credit
Union remains competitive and also makes the
benefits of these payment technologies fully available
to our members, COB will be rolling out a number of
card products over the coming months.
An international debit MasterCard is replacing the
current ATM card which was scheduled to be phased
out at the end of July 2021. Distribution of the new
Easy Access Card was fully underway as this report was
being prepared. In addition, plans were well advanced
for the launch of two MasterCard prepaid products
– the One Union Individual Prepaid MasterCard and
the Vision® Business Prepaid MasterCard. These two
cards will benefit not only our members but members
of other credit unions. These new cards will be a
source of new income for our Credit Union going into
the future.
Your Board sees the MSME sector as the new area of
growth potential for the credit union. In support of this
vision the Board has recently agreed to an increase in
the loan limit to accommodate the financing need of
these entities. In addition, recognizing the need for
cost effect payment systems for these organizations,
the Credit Union has embarked on the process of VISA
and Master Card certification for merchant services. It
is envisaged that the merchant services together with
the card services will be the major area of revenue
growth for the near foreseeable future.

• C.O. B Aid
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Corporate Social Responsibility
To cushion the impact of the pandemic on the most
vulnerable of our members, the COB Aid Initiative
was launched during the past year. This intervention
was specifically designed to provide assistance to
members who were having great difficulty meeting
normal domestic expenses. Two hundred and five
(205) persons were approved and benefitted from
this initiative under which 300 food hampers were
distributed.
COVID support and awareness
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board
proactively and rapidly deployed extensive measures
to ensure our premises remained as safe as possible
while supporting the wellbeing of our employees
and members. Some of these measures included:
• Reconfigured workspaces to reduce density,
increased sanitization and regular deep cleaning,
protective plexiglass dividers in branches and
distribution of hand sanitizer, personal protective
equipment (PPE), wipes and cleanser.
• In an effort to promote COVID 19 awareness and
help our members to make informed decisions in
the face of a deluge of confusing misinformation
out there, the Credit Union held its first virtual
Member Education session on March 6. The
subject was “The “A to Z” of the Oxford AstraZeneca

Vaccine” which at the time was the only type
available to Barbadians during the initial phase
of the national vaccination campaign. Hosted
by medical practitioner, Dr. Akilah Maycock, the
session facilitated comprehensive discussion on
the vaccine brand and the associated benefits.
Members 1st
Financial literacy is indispensable today for persons
looking to put their hard earned money to more
effective use and empower themselves in the process.
Responding to this need was the objective of the
Members 1st initiative which COB launched during the
past year.
The initiative, which added a new dimension to COB’s
outreach to members and the wider public, took the
form of a series of two-minute video programmes.
Broadcast on our online platforms as well as on CBC
television, the series was hosted by Members Relations
Executive, Creig Jones, and provided viewers with an
opportunity to learn the “ins and outs” of credit unions
and particularly, C.O.B.
With the aim of promoting interaction, viewers were
encouraged to post any queries and comments
so that they could receive relevant information in
response to their specific interests and needs. If you
are interested in finding out how the tools of financial

• Member Education
Session vaccine

• Arnott Cato Award

• Arnott
Cato Award
ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | C.O.B CREDIT UNION LTD. 23

literacy can work for you, we invite you to be part of the
process by sending a short email to marketingdept@
cobcreditunion.com so that your interests can be
addressed.

• Assisting Bay Primary School

In addition, primary schools in St. Philip were polled
regarding a virtual poster competition. A number
expressed a willingness to participate but only after
the Common Entrance Examination was out of the
way. The Ignatius Byer Primary School in St. Lucy
reached out to us to introduce a financial literacy
programme. However, due to challenges resulting
from the pandemic, the school deferred to the new
school year. COB CARES information was also shared
with the school to build interest in the programme.
Our Marketing Team was also in touch with Bay Primary
School which has also expressed interest in building
out a financial literacy programme. We also continued
our engagement with the the St. Leonard’s Boys School
and were heartened that the business class expressed
a desire to work with us in the preparation of students’
SBAs for their CSEC examinations.

• Presentation to Grantley Adams Old scholar

• Presentation to Springer

Schools & Youth Outreach
During the past year, the Marketing Department sent
introductory emails to all primary and secondary
schools across the island, extending an invitation to
participate in the COB Cares programme and also
benefit from our Model Credit Union financial literacy
initiative.
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• Presentation of Laptops to Grantley Adams

thereby enhancing vital relationships which are
critical to the continued success of our Credit Union.
Over the past year, considerable progress was made on
updating our Credit Union’s By-Laws and the changes
will fully engage the Board’s attention immediately
after the Annual General Meeting. We also received
notification from our regulators, the FSC, that it had
approved changes to By-Laws which were sanctioned by
members three years ago. In addition, consistent with
comments and recommendations from the last AGM
and SGM, changes have also been made to the Credit
Union’s procurement policy specifically in relation to
elected officers interest in tendered contracts.

HQ RENOVATIONS

• Share the Spirit

Share the Spirit
In a further expression of support for the development
of our youth, the Share the Spirit programme was
continued for the second consecutive year with more
presentations of computers to help with the delivery of
on-line learning amid the challenges of the pandemic.

The renovation of our Lower Broad Street headquarters
is expected to get underway shortly following the recent
finalization of the concept. The work, to be carried out
on a phased basis, is aimed at correcting once and
for all the nagging environmental problems which are
related to the advanced age of the building. The Board
thanks staff and members for their understanding and
patience and looks forward to a speedy resolution of
this matter.
OUTLOOK

The following schools benefitted during the past year:
•
Grantley Adams Memorial Secondary School - 4
laptop computers.
•
Springer Memorial Secondary School - 5 Laptop
computers.
•
Christ Church Foundation School- 5 laptop
computers.
Princess Margaret Secondary School- 31 tablets.
•

The short to medium term outlook for Barbados
remains clouded by uncertainty as the virus driving
the pandemic is showing no signs of abating. While
everyone naturally is wishing for the best, we have at
the same time to be mindful of and be prepared for the
possibility of worse to come. We must also continue to
take the actions -- social distancing, etc. -- which have
been proven effective in keeping the virus at bay.

Under the Share the Spirit initiative to date, COB
has donated $29,000 in computer devices or other
services to schools and students. Through these
interactions, we have become acutely aware of the
unique challenges facing both pupils and teachers,
prompting a change in how we will approach our
schools’ programme going forward.

As a Board, we are determined to be innovative in our
approach to managing this unprecedented crisis, to
ensure that our Credit Union remains stable, continues
to effectively weather the storm and eventually
emerges better and stronger.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Your Board recognizes the importance of improving
corporate governance as it can contribute, in
this age of rampant scepticism and cynicism, to
promoting stakeholder trust and confidence,

There are at least two vital lessons which we can
learn from the human experience in confronting
adversity down through history. The first is that how
we respond matters more than the adversity itself.
If we believe we will overcome and move decisively
towards making it happen, it generally will. Such is
the power of positive thinking. The second lesson is
that tough times never last but tough people often do.
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As we confront the challenges before us, let us do so
together with a positive mindset, a stronger sense of
unity and purpose, whilst focusing our collective gaze

“Beyond Adversity to Opportunity” as the theme of this
AGM encourages us.

Mr. Adlai Stevenson
President

Mrs. Celeste Foster
Vice President

Mr. Henderson Williams
Secretary

Mr. Kemar Cumberbatch
Assistant Secretary

Sen. Dr. Lynette Holder
Director

Mr. Kenneth Gittens
Director
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Mr. James Paul
Treasurer

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE
CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Treasurer’s Report
F I N A N C I A L S T A T E ME N T S
FO R TH E Y E A R E N DE D MA R C H 3 1 , 2 0 2 1
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CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
Treasurer’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021 (continued)

Financial highlight
As at and for years ended March 31

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

16.0

17.1

15.8

14.6

14.7

5.3

6.0

5.5

5.6

4.5

21.3

23.1

21.3

20.2

19.2

Expected credit losses loans

2.8

0.9

2.2

0.6

0.6

Expected credit losses on debt securities

0.0

0.0

10.7

0

0

Loss on revaluation of investment property

0.0

1.7

0

0

0

16.4

16.1

16.3

15.6

15.2

2.1

4.4

(7.9)

4.0

3.4

(2.2)

0.0

(2.0)

(1.9)

(1.7)

Other comprehensive income

0.6

(0.2)

0.2

0.1

0.2

Total comprehensive income

0.5

4.2

(9.7)

2.2

1.9

0.4%

0.6%

-1.06%

0.6%

0.5%

72.3%

69.3%

76.5%

77.2%

79.2%

-9.3%

137.3%

-60.8%

2.2%

1.4%

Operating results ($ millions)
Net interest income
Other income
Net interest and other income

Non-interest expenses
Net surplus
Distributions

Operating performance
Return on average assets
Productivity ratio
Operating leverage
Financial position information
($ millions)

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Cash and cash equivalents

99.3

72.6

58.1

37.9

31.0

Financial instruments

98.6

90.7

77.0

70.4

57.1

Investment property

6.0

6.0

7.7

7.7

7.7

349.1

349.5

345

340.8

324.5

18.5

15.7

14.2

13.3

13.4

Development land for resale

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.7

Other assets

6.9

4.8

2.7

2.9

2.2

Total assets

580.0

540.9

506.3

474.6

437.6

Deposits and shares

527.2

489.5

456.6

418.9

384.4

Loans payable

0.0

0.0

4.1

5.1

5.6

Other liabilities

8.9

8.0

5.8

5.2

4.0

Members equity

43.9

43.4

39.8

45.6

43.6

580.0

540.9

506.3

474.7

437.6

Loans to members
Property and equipment

Total liabilities and members' equity
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CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Treasurer’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021 (continued)

As at and for years ended March 31

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

Capital and liquidity measures
Capital ratio (%)

7.6%

8.0%

7.9%

9.6%

10.0%

Cash and investment to asset ratio (%)

34.1%

30.2%

26.7%

19.0%

17.8%

Loan to asset ratio (%)

60.2%

64.6%

68.1%

71.8%

76.2%

49.6

41.3

37.3

35.1

35.9

10.0

7.2

6.9

7.4

6.7

13.8%

11.6%

10.7%

10.6%

11.3%

20.1%

17.4%

18.5%

21.1%

17.6%

66

65

62

60

58

115

109

107

107

107

4

3

3

3

3

Credit quality
Non-performing loans $ millions
Allowance for credit losses $ millions
Non-performing loan ratio (%)
Provision for credit losses as % of
nonperforming loans (%)
Other information
Members (000s)
Employees
Branches

OVERVIEW
The Auditors have issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021.
During the year 2020 the credit union remained true to its motto of “measuring success one member at time”. The
world wide Covid-19 pandemic, affected the financial results of the credit union. As we adapted to the new norm
of doing business, management implemented strategies to maintained a healthy liquidity position, reduce annual
expenditure, and maintain a reasonable capital ratio.
Despite the economic and pandemic challenges being experienced throughout the Caribbean, effective deployment
of the credit Union’s resources resulted in achieving the following results:
•

Net surplus before distribution decreased by 52% to end at $2.1 million

•

Total assets increased by 7.2% to reach $580.0 million

•

Cash, cash equivalents and financial instruments as a percentage of total assets
under management increased by 390 basis points to reach 34.1%.

•

Net loans to members decreased by 0.1% to reach $349.1 million

•

Members’ deposits and shares qualifying as regulatory capital increased by 7.7%
to reach $527.2 million

•

Non-performing loans increased by two hundred and twenty basis points to 13.8%.
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Net surplus before distributions in $ millions
6.0
4.0

3.4

4.4

2.0

2.1

0.0
-2.0
-4.0
-6.0
-8.0

(7.9)

-10.0
2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

540.8

580.0

2020

2021

Total Assets in $ millions
700
600
500

437.7

474.6

506.3

400
300
200
100
0
2017

2018

2019

Net surplus before distributions
Net surplus before distributions declined by $2.3 million or 52.2 % to reach $2.1 million primarily as a result of
an increase of $1.9 million in expected credit losses occasioned by the continued anticipated losses on our loan
book the credit risk of which has been negatively impacted by weakened finances of our members due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
The Board remains cognizant of the need to address the challenges arising from the reduction of non-risk
weighted regulatory capital limit of 10.0 % to 7.6% and has identified strategies within the next three years to
gradually increase the ratio to a minimum of 10.0 %.
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2021

2020

Average
balance

Interest

Cash and cash equivalents

85.9

0.3

0.3%

Financial Investments

99.3

1.7

Investment property

6.8

Average Average
yield balance

Interest

Average
yield

65.3

0.1

0.2%

1.6%

83.8

1.8

2.1%

0.1

1.5%

6.9

0.2

2.9%

255.0

13.0

5.1%

249.5

13.6

5.5%

Vehicle

25.7

1.6

6.1%

24.4

1.5

6.1%

Debt consolidation and personal

74.8

4.7

6.3%

78.4

5.7

7.3%

2.2

0.1

3.1%

2.2

0.1

4.5%

For the financial years ($ millions)
Assets

Loans to members
Land and housing

Business
Allowance for loan losses

(8.6)

(7.1)

Total loans to members

349.1

19.4

5.5%

347.4

20.9

6.0%

Total earning assets

541.1

21.5

4.0%

503.4

23.0

4.6%

Other assets

24.6

20.4

Total assets

565.7

21.5

3.8%

523.8

23.0

4.4%

Call deposits

224.7

1.3

0.6%

201.1

1.3

0.6%

Term deposits

177.8

1.5

0.8%

171

1.6

0.9%

13.6

0.6

4.4%

12.6

0.6

4.8%

Total deposits

416.1

3.4

0.8%

384.7

3.5

0.9%

Loans payable

0.0

0.0

0.0%

2.0

0.1

5.0%

416.1

3.4

0.8%

386.7

3.6

0.9%

92.6

1.9

2.1%

88.5

2.1

2.4%

7.6

0.0

0.0

6.9

0

0.0%

43.1

0.0

0.0%

41.6

0

0.0%

559.4

5.3

0.9%

523.7

5.7

1.1%

16.2

2.9%

17.4

3.3%

Liabilities and equity
Members' deposits

Registered retirement accounts

Total interest bearing liabilities
Members shares qualifying as regulatory
capital
Other liabilities
Members' equity
Total liabilities and members' equity
Net interest income
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It is of note that the net surplus before distribution were driven primarily by the following factors::
2021 results

2020 results

$ millions

% change

$ millions

% change

359.1

0.7%

356.6

1.3%

19.4

-5.8%

20.6

-2.4%

Investment income

2.0

-14.3%

2.3

-37.8%

Interest expenses on members' savings

3.4

0.0%

3.4

-32.0%

Interest on long term loans

0.0

-100.0%

0.1

-40.9%

Other income
(excluding investment income)

3.2

-11.1%

3.6

125.0%

Provision for impaired loans

2.8

211.1%

0.9

0.0%

16.3

-7.9%

17.7

-32.7%

2.1

-51.2%

4.3

Gross loans
Loans interest

Other expenditure
Net surplus before distribution

Gross loans & loan interest in $ millions
380.0
21.0

21.1

22.0

21.1
20.6

360.0

21.0

340.0

20.0

19.4

320.0

19.0

300.0

18.0
2017

2018

2019

2020

Gross Loans
Loans interest

2021

Loan Portfolio Performance
16.0%

13.8%

14.0%
12.0%

10.6%

10.7%

11.2%

11.6%
Average loan yield

10.0%
8.0%
6.0%

6.5%

Loan growth

6.2%
4.9%

4.7%

60%

58%

5.5%
Non performing
loans ratio

4.0%
2.0%

1.0%

1.3%

0.7%

0.0%
2017

2019

2019

2019

2021

The total loan portfolio grew by 0.7% or $2.3 million, down from the 1.3% or $4.7 million attained in the previous
year. Average loan yield for the year was 5.5% some 30 basis points below the average yield earned in year
ended March 31, 2020. Concomitant with the reduction in loan rates occasioned by weak demand as a result of
the Covid-19 pandemic conditions as well as low interest rates due to strong competitive pressures, total loan
interest earned was $19.4 million, down $1.2 million or 5.8% from the previous year, while non-performing loan
increased by 200 basis points to 13.8%.
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Interest Expense and Costs of Funds
2021 results

2020 results

$ millions

% change

$ millions

% change

431.6

8.0%

399.8

9.7%

0.0

0.0%

0.0

-19.6%

Total interest bearing liabilities in $ millions

431.6

8.0%

399.8

-9.2%

Interest on members deposits in $ millions

3.4

0.0%

3.4

-18.0%

Interest on loan $ millions

0.0

-100.0%

0.1

-33.3%

Total interest costs in $ millions

3.4

-2.3%

3.5

-18.8%

Average costs of funds members deposits %

0.8%

-11.4%

0.9%

-25.4%

Average costs of funds loans %

0.0%

-100.0%

3.1%

-22.4%

Average costs of funds total interest bearing liabilities %

0.8%

-12.9%

0.9%

-27.3%

Members deposits in $ millions
Loans in $ millions

Interest Bearing Liabilities Data
500.0
450.0
400.0
350.0
300.0
250.0

6.4

7.0

6.4
5.2

311.4

341.6

373.2

6.0

431.6

399.8

5.0
3.4

3.5

200.0
150.0

4.0
3.0
2.0

100.0
50.0

1.0

0.0

0.0
2017

2018

2019

Total interest bearing liabilities in $ millions

2020

2020

Total interest costs in $ millions

Total interest expense incurred on members’ deposits amounted to $3.4 million, consistent with the results in
the previous year. Total cost of interest-bearing funds was 0.8% down 10 basis points when compared with the
previous year.

Other Income
Other income decreased by $0.7 million or 11.7% to end at $5.3 million for the year under review. The decrease
was primarily due to $0.3 million decrease in investment income and $0.4 million decrease in fee income. The
continued decline in investment income was due primarily to the decreased level of investment opportunities
and declining interest rates on the market. During the year cash, cash equivalents and financial instrument
increased by $34.7 million or 21.2% to reach $198.0 million.
Expenditure
Consistent with our strategy of strict expense management, notwithstanding the increase cost of operating
under the current economic and pandemic conditions, total expenditure increased slightly by $0.4 million or
2.6% to reach $19.1 million.
Balance Sheet
Total assets increased by $39.1 million or 7.2% to reach $580.0 million. Loans to members continue as anticipated
to dominate the balance sheet growing by $2.3 million or 0.7% to reach $359.1 million or 60.4% of total assets
as at March 31, 2021, while cash, cash equivalent and financial instruments increased by $34 million or 20.8% to
reach $198.0 million or 35.7% of total assets.
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Analysis of assets
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

Cash & cash equivalent

400.0

Loans in $millions

500.0

600.0

Other Assets

Loan Portfolio Analysis in $ millions as at March 2021
38.0, 10%
20.4, 6%

2.2, 1%

26.4, 7%

257.9, 71%
14.1, 4%

Land & housing

Other

Vehicles

Debt consol

Personnal

Business

Total liabilities and Equity
Consistent with the change in total assets, total liabilities and members equity increased by $39.1 million or 7.2
% to reach $536.1 million at year end. Total deposits and regulatory capital increased by $37.6 million or 7.8%
to reach $527.1 million or 90.9% of total liabilities and members’ equity.
Members’ equity at the end of the year increased by $0.5 million or 1.5% to reach $43.9 million to account for
7.6% of total liabilities and members’ equity at year end.

Liabilities & members equity analysis
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
0.0

100.0
Deposits
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OVERVIEW ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
C.O.B assumes a variety of risks in its ordinary business activities. Risk is defined as any event that could negatively
impact the Society’s capacity to achieve its goals, and as such, relates to anything that negatively affects the Credit
Union’s earnings, cash flow, capital, threatens business reputation or viability and/or breach regulatory or legal
obligations.
During the year, the Society through the CFRO and the Board appointed risk committee implemented a number
of processes directed toward strengthening the organization’s risk management framework. Critical to these
processes was an aggressive training and awareness campaign championed by the CFRO for all departments in the
organization.
The following is a report on the enterprise risk management framework adopted by the Society.

MISSION STATEMENT
Building member value through the application of an effective strategic management program.
Objectives
Identify, assess
and measure
our exposure to
material individual,
aggregate and
emerging risks.

Ensure all risk
taking activities
and risk exposures
are within the
board approved
risk appetite and
risk limits.

Maintain and
ensure continued
enhancement of
our Enterprise
Risk Management
Framework.
Provide
independent
and objective
oversight of the
management of
risks arising from
our businesses
and operations.

Maintain
an effective
enterprise-wide
risk management
process.

Ensure continuous
improvement in
risk management
processes, tools
and practices.

RISK PRIORITIES
Enable growth while ensuring top and emerging risks
remain within risk appetite.
Continue to strengthen our risk conduct and culture
practices.

Improve governance and risk management efficiency
and effectiveness.
Maintain focus on talent management,
diversity and employee engagement.
Manage regulatory changes.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES
Effectively balancing risk and reward is essential to our success.
Responsibility for risk
management is shared.
Business decisions must be based
on an understanding of risks.

Avoid activities that are
inconsistent with our vision,
values code of conduct
or policies.
Proper focus on our members
reduces our risks.

Use judgment and common
sense.
Be operationally prepared for a
potential crisis.

Risk pyramid
Our risk pyramid identifies the principal risks the Credit Union faces and provides a common language and
discipline for the identification and assessment of risk in existing businesses, new businesses, products or
initiatives, and acquisitions and alliances. It is maintained by the Board appointed Risk Committee and reviewed
regularly to ensure all key risks are reflected and ranked appropriately. The placement of the principal risks
within the risk pyramid is a function of two primary criteria: risk drivers and level of control and influence.
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Risk drivers
Risk drivers are key factors that would have a strong
influence on whether or not one or more of our risks
will materialize, which include the following:
1

Macroeconomic: Adverse changes in the
macroeconomic environment can lead to a partial
or total collapse of the real economy or the financial
system. Examples include deterioration in the
foreign exchange levels in the country, significant
increases in inflation and unemployment. Resultant
impacts can materialize as loss of revenue, as well
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LIQUIDITY

INSURANCE

as realization of credit, market or operational risk
losses.
2

Strategic: Business strategy is a major driver of
our risk appetite and the strategic choices and
capital allocations we make determine how our risk
profile changes. Examples include responding to
the threats posed by non-traditional competitors
and responding to proposed changes in regulatory
frameworks. These choices also impact our
revenue mix, affecting our exposure to earnings
volatility and loss absorption capacity.
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3

4

Execution: The increasing complexity and scope
of our operations exposes us to operational and
regulatory compliance risks, including fraud, antimoney laundering, cybersecurity and conduct/
fiduciary risk.
Transactional/Positional: This driver of risk
presents a more traditional risk perspective. This
involves the risk of credit or market losses arising
from the lending of transactions and balance sheet
positions we undertake every day.

Control and influence
The risk types are organized vertically from the top
of the pyramid to its base according to the relative
degree of control and influence we consider to have
over each risk driver.
The risk categories along the base level of our risk
pyramid are those over which we have the greatest
level of control and influence. We understand these
risks and earn revenue by taking them. These are credit,
market, liquidity and insurance risks. Operational risk
and regulatory compliance risk, while still viewed as
risks over which we have a greater level of control
and influence, are ranked higher on the pyramid
than the other more controllable risks. This ranking
acknowledges the level of controllability associated
with people, systems and external events.
Strategic risk generally arises from us either choosing
the wrong strategy, or poorly executing on the right
strategy. Both strategic risk and reputation risk are
placed near the middle of the pyramid to denote the
fair degree of control and influence we can exert in
managing these risk types relative to others. Legal
and regulatory environment and competitive risks,
which can be viewed as somewhat controllable, can
be influenced through our role as a corporate entity,
and as an active participant in the financial services
industry.
Systemic risk is placed at the top of our risk pyramid,
which we consider to be the least controllable type of
risk arising from the business environment in which
we operate. However, we have controls in place for
mitigating the impacts of systemic risk such as our
diversified business model and funding sources,
financial crisis management strategies and protocols,
stress testing programs, and product diversification.

2020 Accomplishments
Throughout 2020 we have:

9 Reviewed our risk management framework making
changes as appropriate
9 Kept our risk profile within our risk appetite.
9 Maintained strong credit quality, notwithstanding a
sustained weak economic environment.
9 Maintained strong liquidity ratios.
9 Avoided major operational risks and
9 Enhanced stress testing capabilities and risk analysis
frameworks

Top and Emerging Risks
Our view of risks is not static. An important component
of our enterprise risk management approach is
to ensure that continuously evolving top risks and
emerging risks are appropriately identified, managed
and incorporated in existing enterprise management
assessment, measurement, monitoring and escalation
processes.
These practices ensure that management is forwardlooking in its assessment of risks to the organization.
Identification of top and emerging risks occurs in the
course of business development and as part of the
execution of risk oversight responsibilities by Finance,
Compliance, Audit, Operations and other control
functions.
Top and emerging risks occur as a result of exogenous
factors, such as changes in the macroeconomic or
regulatory environment or endogenous factors such
as changes to our strategic imperatives or failure
to adapt to an evolving competitive or operational
environment.
A top risk is an existing, significant risk that can
potentially affect our surplus or capital within a oneyear time horizon.
An emerging risk has a lower probability of occurring
within a one-year time horizon, but in the event it
materializes, can have a significant adverse impact on
our ability to achieve goals. Emerging risks are defined
as “new” risks, “familiar risks in new or unfamiliar
conditions” or “existing risks that are expected to
increase in significance” that have the potential of
creating new or changing top risks within the next
annual reporting cycle that may or could prevent us
from achieving our business objectives.
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TOP RISKS

TREND

COMMENTARY

Economic uncertainty

Risk heightened in 2021

During the year, the economy
weakened and continued
to be negatively impacted
by the pandemic COVID-19.
Interest rates continued at
an all-time low while demand
for loans remained stagnant.
Unemployment remained
stubbornly high and high
level of uncertainty in the
market place persisted.

Cyber risks

Risk heightened in 2021

Information technology and
cybersecurity continue to be an
increasingly problematic issue
for the financial services sector.
We continue to see challenges in
the management of IT Risk. We
continued to invest significantly
in systems directed towards
effective mitigation of this risk as
well as providing our members
with confidence in their financial
transactions.

Anti- money laundering and
terrorism finance

Risks heightened in 2021

We are subject to a dynamic
set of anti-money laundering/
anti-terrorist (AML) laws. We
are committed to the effective
management of AML risks and
have implemented advanced
and evolving AML policies,
processes and controls to
mitigate the risk of money
laundering activities and meet
our statutory obligations to
deter, detect and report such
activities.
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TOP RISKS

TREND

COMMENTARY

Credit exposures

Risk heightened in 2021

During the year, we continued
to adhere to strict lending
standards and stress tested
all major loans to assist in
evaluating the impact on debt
service ratios based on future
increase in loan rates. Cognizant
of the significant negative impact
of COVID-19 on our members
finances, we proactively adopted
policies directed towards
providing relief through our
loan moratorium programs.
Notwithstanding this there was
an increase of 230 basis points
in non-performing loans to reach
13.8 % at yearend.

Technological innovation and
new entrants

Risk did not increase in 2021

The financial services sector
continues to be subject to rapid
technological change resulting
in changing consumer habits
and additional regulatory
expectations and oversight
responsibilities. New Fintech
entrants have the potential to
disrupt existing financial services
value chains. These companies
offer new payment methods and
alternative lending solutions.
In response to these emerging
risks we have made digital and
IT innovation a key strategic
priority.

Increasing complexity of
regulation

Risk did not increase in 2021

The continued increase in the
regulations will lead to increased
costs and as such will affect the
level of surpluses generated by
the Society.
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TOP RISKS

TREND

COMMENTARY

Data management

Risk did not increase in 2021

As a financial institution,
we are subject to increased
informational demands
from regulators and other
stakeholders. During the year,
we continued to invest in better
data management capabilities
in order to enable accurate,
consistent and timely reporting.

Enterprise risk management:
Under the oversight of the Board of Directors and
Senior Management, the Enterprise Risk Management
Framework provides an overview of our enterprisewide programmes for managing risk, including
identifying,
assessing,
measuring,
controlling,
monitoring and reporting on the significant risks
that face the organization. While our risk appetite
encompasses “what” risks we are able and willing to
take, our risk conduct and culture articulates “how” we
expect to take those risks.

Risk Governance:
The risk governance model is well-established. The
Board of Directors oversees the implementation of
our risk management framework, while employees
at all levels of the organization are responsible for
managing the day-to-day risks that arise in the context
of their mandate. As shown below, we use three lines
of defence in our governance model to manage risks
across the enterprise.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors establishes the tone from the top, approves our risk appetite, provides oversight
and carries out its risk management mandate primarily through its committees which include the Risk
Committee.
The purpose of the Risk Committee is to oversee our risk management programme. The Risk Committee’s
oversight role is designed to ensure that the risk management function is adequately independent
from the businesses whose activities it reviews, and that the policies, procedures and controls used by
management are sufficient to keep risks within our risk appetite.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM
Actively shape enterprise risk appetite and recommend it for Board of Directors approval.
Establish the tone from the top and visibly support and communicate enterprise risk appetite, ensuring
that sufficient resources and expertise are in place to help provide effective oversight of adherence to the
enterprise risk appetite.
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FIRST LINE OF DEFENCE

SECOND LINE OF DEFENCE

THIRD LINE OF DEFENCE

Risk Owners

Risk Oversight

Independent Assurance

•

Business and Support Functions •
embedded in the business

•

Accountable for:
Î
Î
Î
Î

Identification
Assessment
Mitigation
Monitoring and reporting
of risk against approved
policies and appetite.

Establishes risk management
practices and provides risk
guidance.

•

Provides oversight of the
effectiveness of management
practices.

•

Monitors and independently
reports on the level of risk
against established appetite.

Risk Appetite
Our risk appetite is the amount and type of risk that
we are able and willing to accept in the pursuit of our
business objectives. The goal in managing risk is to
protect us from an unacceptable loss or an undesirable
outcome with respect to volatility of our surplus levels,
capital adequacy or liquidity, while supporting and
enabling our overall business strategy.

•

Internal and External Audit.

•

Supervisory Committee
Oversight.

•

Independent assurance to
management and the Board of
Directors on the effectiveness
of management practices.

Risk Capacity
Risk Appetite
Risk Limits
& Tolerances

Our approach to articulating our risk appetite is
focused around three key concepts:
1. The amount of “surplus at risk” that is determined to
be acceptable over an economic cycle and including
periods of moderate stress, using an expected
future loss lens and considering potential revenue
and expense contributions to earnings volatility;

Risk
Profile

2. The amount of “capital at risk” that is determined
to be acceptable under severe and very severe
stress, using an unexpected future loss lens; and
3. Ensuring adequate liquidity in times of stress.
Our Enterprise Risk Appetite Framework has
several major components as follows:
•

Define our risk capacity by identifying regulatory
constraints that restrict our ability to accept risk.

•

Establish and regularly confirm our risk appetite,
comprised of strategic drivers and self-imposed
constraints that define both the minimum and
maximum amount of risk we are willing to accept
given our financial strength, corporate objectives
and business strategies.

•

Set risk limits and tolerances to ensure that risktaking activities are within our risk appetite.

•

Assess our risk posture to confirm whether our
strategic priorities entail taking on more risk over a
one-year time frame, using a scale of contracting,
stable or expanding.

•

Regularly measure and evaluate our risk profile,
representing the risks we are exposed to, relative
to our risk appetite, and ensure appropriate action
is taken to prevent risk profile from surpassing risk
appetite.
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We are in the business of taking risks; however, we
balance the risk-reward trade-off to ensure the longterm viability of the organization by remaining within
our risk appetite. Our risk appetite is articulated in
several complementary qualitative and quantitative
risk appetite statements.

Qualitative Statements
9 Undertake only those risks that we understand. Our
risk decisions are thoughtful and future-focused.
9 Make decisions that balance risk with sustainable
and stable business growth.
9 Maintain a healthy control environment built to
protect our members and meet regulatory and
legal requirements.

•

Ensure capital adequacy by maintaining capital
ratios in excess of regulatory expectations

The Enterprise Risk Appetite Framework is structured
in such a way that it can be applied at the enterprise,
business segment and business unit levels. The risk
appetite is integrated into our business strategies and
capital plan. We also ensure that the business strategy
aligns with the enterprise and business segment level
risk appetite.

Risk Conduct and Culture
We define our risk conduct and culture as a shared
set of behavioural norms that sustains our core values
and enables us to proactively identify, understand and
act upon our risks, thereby protecting our members.

9 Avoid activities that compromise our values or code
of conduct. Our compensation practices and code of
conduct are built to reflect our culture of Integrity.

Risk behaviour expectations are in place and articulated
through:

9 Never compromising our reputation and the trust
of our members for surpluses.

•

Our Values;

•

Code of Conduct;

•

Risk management principles;

•

Risk appetite statements;

•

Regulatory conduct rules, practices and policies;

•

Performance management processes; and

•

The Risk Conduct and Culture Framework.

9 Maintain our financial resilience and operational
readiness for extreme events, both to
protect stakeholder interests and to ensure
we do not threaten our financial stability.

Quantitative Statements
•

Manage exposure to future losses

•

Manage volatility of surpluses

•

Avoid excessive concentrations of risk

•

Low exposure to stress events

•

Ensure sound management of liquidity and
funding risk

•

Ensure sound management of regulatory
compliance risk and operational risk

We hold ourselves to the highest standards of conduct
to build the trust of our members, lenders, employees
and the communities we serve. The desired outcomes
from effective risk conduct and culture practices
align with our values and support our risk appetite
statements:

PRACTICES
Tone from the top

Accountability

Effective communication and challenge

Incentives that reinforce desired risk and
management behaviours
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SUPPORT DESIRED OUTCOMES
Undertaking only those risks that
we understand. Our risk decisions
are thoughtful and futurefocused.

Making decisions that balance
risk with sustainable and stable
business growth.

Maintaining a healthy control
environment built to protect our
stakeholders and meet regulatory
and legal requirements.

Avoiding activities that
compromise our Values or Code
of Member Conduct.

Never compromising our
reputation and the trust or our
members for surpluses

Maintaining our financial
resilience and operational
readiness for extreme events,
both to protect stakeholder
interests and to ensure we do not
threaten our financial stability.

Sustaining and strengthening our risk conduct and
culture relies upon effective linkages between our
risk appetite, our enterprise-wide risk management
program, our Code of Conduct, values, and human
resources policies and practices. Regular assessment
and monitoring is in place to identify strengths and
weaknesses and areas for remediation. Our objective
is to continually assess the effectiveness of our
risk conduct and culture and to identify issues that
could be signs of cultural problems and which, if not
addressed, could undermine our long-term success,
and, potentially jeopardize our safety and soundness.

Risk measurement
Our ability to measure risks is a key component of
our enterprise-wide risk and capital management
processes. Certain measurement methodologies
are common to a number of risk types, while others
only apply to a single risk type. While quantitative risk
measurement is important, we also place reliance on
qualitative factors. Our measurement models and
techniques are continually subject to independent
assessment for appropriateness and reliability. For
those risk types that are difficult to quantify, we
place greater emphasis on qualitative risk factors and
assessment of activities to gauge the overall level of
risk to ensure that they are within our risk appetite.
In addition, judgmental risk measures are developed,
and techniques such as stress testing, and scenario
and sensitivity analyses can also be used to assess and
measure risks.

Risk Control
Our enterprise-wide risk management approach is
supported by a comprehensive set of risk controls.
Our risk management frameworks and policies are
organized into the following five levels:
•

level 1: Enterprise Risk Management Framework
provides an overview of our enterprise-wide
program for identifying, assessing, measuring,
controlling, monitoring and reporting on the
significant risks we face. This framework is
underpinned by our Risk Appetite Framework and
Risk Conduct and Culture Framework.

•

level 2: Risk-Specific Frameworks elaborate on
each specific risk type and the mechanisms for
identifying, measuring, monitoring and reporting
of our principal risks; key policies; and roles and
responsibilities.

•

level 3: Enterprise Risk Policies articulate minimum
requirements, within which businesses and
employees must operate.

•

level 4: “Multi-risk” Enterprise Risk Policies govern
activities such as product risk review and approval,
stress testing, risk limits, risk approval authorities
and model risk management.

•

level 5: Business Segments and Corporate
Support- Specific Policies and Procedures are
established to manage the risks that are unique to
their operations.
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Risk controls are anchored by our Enterprise Risk
Management and Risk-Specific Frameworks. These
frameworks lay the foundation for the development
and communication of policies, establishment of
formal risk review and approval processes, and the
establishment of delegated authorities and limits. The
implementation of robust risk controls enables the
optimization of risk and return on both a portfolio and
a transactional basis.

Authorities and Limits
The Risk Committee of the Board of Directors delegates
credit, market and insurance risk authorities to the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Finance & Risk
Officer. The delegated authorities allow these officers
to approve exposures within defined parameters to
manage concentration risk, establish underwriting
and set market risk tolerances.
The Board of Directors also delegates liquidity risk
authorities to the CEO and CFRO. These limits act as
a key risk control designed to ensure that reliable
and cost-effective sources of cash or its equivalent
are available to satisfy our current and prospective
commitments.

Reporting
Enterprise and business segment level risk monitoring
and reporting are critical components of our enterprise
risk management programme and support the ability
of senior management and the Board of Directors
to effectively perform their risk management and
oversight responsibilities. On a monthly basis, we
provide to the Board of Directors a management
report which includes a comprehensive review of our
risk profile relative to our risk appetite and focuses
on the range of risks we face along with an analysis of
the related issues and trends. On a quarterly basis, we
provide a benchmarking review which compares our
performance to the top four Credit Unions as well as the
commercial banking sector. In addition to our regular
risk monitoring, other risk specific presentations are
provided to and discussed with senior management
and the Board of Directors on top and emerging risks
or changes in our risk profile.
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Risk conduct and culture
Our values set the tone of our organizational culture
and translate into desired behaviours as articulated
in our Code of Conduct and leadership model. Our
Risk Management Principles provide a risk lens for
these desired behaviours, enabling us to focus on a
subset of behaviours and outcomes referred to as our
Conduct. We define Conduct as the manifestation of
culture through the behaviours, judgement, decisions,
and actions of the organization and its individuals. Our
organizational direction establishes the expectation
of good Conduct outcomes as the operating norm
for the organization, all employees, and third-party
service providers operating on our behalf, thereby
allowing our good Conduct to drive positive outcomes
for our members, our employees, stakeholders, and
our reputation. We hold ourselves to the highest
standards of Conduct to build the trust of our
members, depositors, colleagues and community. The
desired outcomes from effective Conduct and Risk
Culture practices align with our values and support
our risk appetite statements.
Risk Culture is a subset of our overall culture that
influences how, individually and collectively, we take
and manage risks. It helps us identify and understand
risks, openly discuss risks, and act on the organization’s
current and future risks. Our Risk Culture practices are:
•

Tone from above;

•

Accountability;

•

Effective challenge; and

•

Incentives and performance management.

These practices are largely grounded in our existing
risk management and human resource disciplines and
protocols, and, when combined with the elements of
effective leadership and values, provide a base from
which the resulting Conduct and Risk Culture can be
assessed, monitored, sustained and subjected to
ongoing enhancement.
On a regular basis, management communicates
behavioural expectations to our employees with an
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and comply with laws, regulations and our policies.
Anyone who breaches or fails to report an actual or
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emphasis on Conduct and values. Our leadership
model also supports and encourages effective
challenge between the businesses and the risk
functions. These behavioural expectations are
supported by multiple online tools and resources,
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TRANSACTIONAL/POSITIONAL RISK DRIVERS
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with an
obligor’s potential inability or unwillingness to fulfill its
contractual obligations. Credit risk may arise directly
from the risk of default of a primary obligor (e.g.,
issuer, debtor, counterparty or borrower) or indirectly
from a secondary obligor (e.g., guarantor or insurer).
The failure to effectively manage credit risk across all
our products, services and activities can have a direct,
immediate and material impact on our earnings and
reputation.
The responsibility for managing credit risk is shared
broadly following the three lines of defence governance
model. The Board of Directors, through the Credit
Committee, delegates credit risk approval authorities

to the CEO and the Internal Loan Review Committee.
Credit transactions in excess of these authorities must
be approved by the Credit Committee. To facilitate
day-to-day business operations, the CEO through the
Credit Committee has been empowered to further
delegate credit risk approval authorities to individuals
within the business segments, as necessary.
We maintain credit policies and supporting guidelines
that are designed to clearly define roles and
responsibilities, acceptable practices, limits and key
controls. The credit policies and guidelines describe
the principles, methodologies, systems, roles and
responsibilities, reports and controls that exist for
managing credit risk within C.O.B.
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Credit Risk Mitigation

We balance our risk and return by:
•

Ensuring credit quality is not compromised for
growth;

•

Mitigating credit risks in transactions, relationships
and portfolios;

•

Using our credit risk rating and scoring systems or
other approved credit risk assessment or rating
methodologies, policies and tools;

•

Pricing appropriately for the credit risk taken;

•

Detecting and preventing inappropriate credit risk
through effective systems and controls;

•

Applying consistent
measurements;

•

Ongoing credit risk monitoring and administration;

•

Transferring credit risk to third parties where
appropriate through approved credit risk
mitigation techniques (e.g., insurance; and

•

Avoiding activities that are inconsistent with our
values, Code of Conduct or policies.

credit

risk

exposure

Risk Measurement – Credit Risk
We quantify credit risk, at both the individual obligor
and portfolio levels, to manage expected credit
losses in order to limit surplus volatility and minimize
unexpected losses.
Risk Control – Credit Risk
The Board of Directors, Credit Committee and Senior
Management work together to ensure a Credit Risk
Framework and supporting policies, processes and
procedures exist to manage credit risk and approve
related credit risk limits. Reports are distributed to the
Board of Directors and the Credit Committee to keep
them informed of our risk profile, including trending
information and significant credit risk issues and shifts
in exposures to ensure appropriate actions can be
taken where necessary. Our enterprise-wide credit
risk policies set out the minimum requirements for
the management of credit risk in a variety of borrower,
transactional and portfolio management contexts.
Credit Risk Assessment
As a critical element of our credit risk assessment, we
maintain consistent credit risk assessment criteria
and standard content requirements in all of our credit
application documents.
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Structuring of transactions
Specific credit policies and procedures set out the
requirements for structuring transactions. Risk
mitigation includes the use of guarantees, collateral,
seniority, loan-to-value requirements and covenants.
Product-specific guidelines set out appropriate
product structuring as well as member and guarantor
criteria.
Collateral
We often require borrowing members to pledge
collateral as security when we advance credit. The
extent of risk mitigation provided by collateral depends
on the amount, type and quality of the collateral
taken. Specific requirements relating to collateral
valuation and management are set out in our credit
risk management policies and guidelines. The types of
collateral used to secure credit within the society are
varied.

Credit risk approval
The Board, Credit Committee and Senior Management
work together to ensure a Credit Risk Framework and
supporting policies, processes and procedures exits to
manage credit risk and approve related credit limits.
Reports including trending information, significant
risks issues and shifts in exposures to ensure
appropriate actions can be taken where necessary
are distributed to the Board Credit Committee and
Senior Executives to keep them informed of our risk
profile. Our enterprise wide credit risk policies set out
the minimum requirements for the management of
credit risk in a variety of borrower, transactional and
portfolio management contexts.
Transaction approval
Credit transactions are approved in accordance with
the delegated credit risk approval authorities and are
subject to our credit rules and policies, which outlines
the minimum standards for managing credit risk at
the Individual member relationship and or transaction
level.
Product Approval
Proposals for credit products and services are
comprehensively reviewed prior to approval under
a risk assessment framework and are subject to
approval authorities which increases as the level of
risk increases. New and amended products must
be reviewed relative to all risks in our risk pyramid
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including credit risk. All existing products must be
reviewed following a risk-based assessment approach
at least once every two years.

Credit Risk Limits
Concentration risk is defined as the risk arising from
large exposures to borrowers aggregated under one
or more single names, industry sectors, location,
collateral type or credit products within the portfolio
that are highly correlated such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations could be similarly affected by
changes In economic, political or other risk drivers.
We manage credit exposures and limits to ensure
alignment with our risk appetite, to maintain our
target business mix and to ensure that there is no
undue risk concentration. Credit concentration limits
are reviewed annually after considering business,
economic and regulatory environments.
Credit risk limits are set by the Board and take into
account both regulatory constraints and internal risk
management judgement. Limits are established at the
following levels:
•

Single and joint members

•

Industry sector (notional and capital)

•

Security type (notional and capital)

•

Product and portfolio limits

Credit risk administration
Effective November 1, 2017, we adopted IFRS 9,
which introduced an expected loss accounting model
for credit losses that differs significantly from the

incurred loss model under IAS 39 and results in earlier
recognition of credit losses. Under IAS 39, credit loss
allowances were applied to loans, acceptances, and
commitments. Under IFRS 9, credit loss allowances
are applied to all financial assets except for those
classified or designated as FVTPL and equity securities
designated as FVOCI. A description of our expected
credit loss impairment models is provided in the
Critical accounting policies and estimates section for
both IFRS 9 and IAS 39.

Loan forbearance
In our overall management of borrower relationships,
economic or legal reasons may necessitate forbearance
to certain members with respect to the original terms
and conditions of their loans. We have specialized
groups and formalized policies that direct the
management of delinquent or defaulted borrowers.
We strive to identify borrowers in financial difficulty
early and modify their loan terms in order to maximize
collection and to avoid foreclosure, repossession,
or other legal remedies. In these circumstances, a
borrower may be granted concessions that would
not otherwise be considered. Examples of such
concessions may include rate reduction, interest
forgiveness, and term extensions. For all affected
loans, the appropriate remediation techniques are
based on the individual borrower’s situation, our
policy and the member’s willingness and capacity to
meet the new terms and conditions.
2021 vs 2020
Total gross credit exposure increased by $36.5 million
or 7.0 % % prior year $30.7 million or 6.3 % analyzed
as follows:

Gross credit exposures in $
millions

Change in gross
exposures in $
millions

% change in gross
credit exposures

Mar-19

Mar-20

Mar-21

Mar-20

Mar-21

Mar-20

Mar-21

Loan to members

352.0

356.7

359.1

4.7

2.4

1.3%

0.7%

Government and government
backed securities

58.9

59.0

58.7

0.1

(0.3)

0.2%

(0.5) %

Savings and chequing accounts

45.2

56.2

76.3

11.0

20.1

24.3%

35.8%

Other term deposits

22.1

34.4

40.0

12.3

5.6

55.7%

16.3%

Short term deposits

10.6

13.2

21.9

2.6

8.7

24.5%

65.9%

488.8

519.5

556.0

30.7

36.5

6.3%

7.0%
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Credit Risk
Credit scoring is the primary risk rating system for
assessing obligor and transaction risk for retail
exposures. Scoring models use internal and external
data to assess and “score” borrowers, predict future
performance and manage limits for existing loans
and collection activities. Credit scores are one of the
factors employed in the acquisition of new members
and management of existing members. The credit
score of the borrower is used to assess the predicted
credit risk for each independent acquisition or account

management action, leading to an automated decision
or guidance for an adjudicator. Credit scoring improves
credit decision quality, adjudication timeframes
and consistency in the credit decision process and
facilitates risk-based pricing.
To arrive at risk rating, borrower scores are categorized
and associated with probability of loss (PL) further
grouping into risk rating categories. The following
table maps PL bands to various risk levels for credit
exposures:

$ millions of loans Mar-20
Loan
Grade

Consumer
loans

Probability of loss

Mortgage

A

Less than 0.25 %

72.9

B

0.25 % to 0.50 %

C

$ millions of loans Mar-19

Total

Consumer
loans

Mortgage

Total

228.3

301.2

75.6

204.1

279.7

2.8

0.6

3.4

1.9

7.1

9.0

0.50 % to 1.00 %

2.8

0.8

3.6

1.3

5.2

6.5

D

1.00 % to 1.50 %

1.7

0.0

1.7

0.7

2.7

3.4

E

Greater than 1.50%

9.9

39.3

49.2

13.4

44.7

58.1

90.1

269.0

359.1

92.9

263.8

356.7

Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk (liquidity risk) is the risk that
we may be unable to generate sufficient cash or its
equivalents in a timely and cost-effective manner to
meet our commitments as they come due. Liquidity
risk arises from mismatches in the timing and value
cash flows. Our liquidity profile is structured to ensure
that we have sufficient liquidity to satisfy current
and prospective commitments in both normal and
stressed conditions. To achieve this goal, we operate
under a comprehensive Liquidity Risk Management
Framework (LRMF) and pledging policy.
We also employ several liquidity risk mitigation
strategies that include:
•

Achieving an appropriate balance between the
level of exposure allowed under our risk appetite
and the cost of risk mitigation;

•

Maintaining broad funding access, including
preserving and promoting a reliable base of core
member deposits and ongoing access to diversified
wholesale funding sources;

•

A comprehensive liquidity stress testing program,
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contingency, recovery and resolution planning
and status monitoring to ensure sufficiency
of unencumbered marketable securities and
demonstrated capacities to monetize specific asset
classes;
•

Governance of pledging activity through limits and
liquid asset buffers for potential pledging activity;

•

Timely and granular risk measurement information;
and

•

Our three lines of defense governance model.

Risk control
Our liquidity risk objectives, policies and methodologies
are reviewed regularly, and updated to reflect
changing market conditions and business mix. This
includes aligning with local regulatory developments.
We continue to maintain liquidity and funding that is
appropriate for the execution of our strategy. Liquidity
risk remains well within our risk appetite.
The Board annually approves the delegation of
liquidity risk authorities to senior management. The
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Risk Committee of the Board annually approves
the liquidity management risk framework and is
responsible for their oversight. The Board, the Risk
Committee of the Board, regularly review reporting on
our enterprise-wide liquidity position and status.
The Board annually approves the Liquidity Risk
Policy (LRP), which establishes minimum risk control
elements in accordance with the Credit Union’s risk
appetite.
The Board annually approves the Liquidity Contingency
Plan (LCP) and provides strategic direction and
oversight to Senior Management on the management
of liquidity.
These policies are supported by operational, desk
and product-level policies that implement risk control
elements, such as parameters, methodologies,
management limits and authorities that govern the
measurement and management of liquidity. Stress
testing is also employed to assess the robustness of the
control framework and inform liquidity contingency
plans.

Risk measurement
Liquidity risk is measured by applying scenario-specific
assumptions against our assets and liabilities and
off-balance sheet commitments to derive expected
cash flow profiles over varying time horizons. For
example, repos generally can be quickly and easily
converted to cash without significant loss of value
regardless of their contractual maturity. Similarly,
while relationship demand deposits contractually can
be withdrawn immediately, in practice, these balances
can be relatively stable sources of funding depending
on several factors, such as the nature of the member
and their intended use. Risk methodologies and
underlying assumptions are periodically reviewed and
validated to ensure their alignment with our operating
environment, expected economic and market
conditions, rating agency preferences, regulatory
requirements and accepted practices.
To manage liquidity risk within our liquidity risk
appetite, we set limits on various metrics reflecting a
range of time horizons and severity of stress conditions
and develop contingency, recovery and resolution
plans. Our liquidity risk measurement and control
activities are divided into three categories as follows:

Structural (longer-term) liquidity risk
To guide our secured and unsecured term funding
activities, we employ an internal metric to manage
and control the structural alignment between longterm illiquid assets and longer-term funding sourced
from non-member and corporate members and core
relationship deposits.
Tactical (shorter-term) liquidity risk
To address potential immediate cash flow risks in
times of stress, we use short-term net cash flow limits
to control risk and perform stress testing assessments.
Net cash flow positions are determined by applying
internally-derived risk assumptions and parameters
to known and anticipated cash flows for all material
unencumbered assets and liabilities. Encumbered
assets are not considered a source of available
liquidity. We also control tactical liquidity by adhering
to enterprise-wide and unit-specific prescribed
regulatory standards, such as LCR.
Contingency liquidity risk
Contingency liquidity risk planning assesses the impact
of sudden stress events, and our planned responses.
Our LCP, maintained and administered by the Finance
Department, has been developed to guide our potential
responses to liquidity crises. Under leadership of the
Chief Financial and Risk Officer, Senior Management
meets regularly to assess our liquidity status, approve
the LCP, and in times of stress provide valuable
linkages to front line and risk functions to support the
crisis management process.
Our stress tests, which include elements of scenario
and sensitivity analyses, measure our prospective
exposure to systemic and COB-specific events over a
period of several weeks. Different levels of severity are
considered for each type of crisis.
The contingency liquidity risk planning process
identifies contingent funding needs (e.g., draws on
committed credit and deposit run-off) and sources
(e.g., contingent liquid asset sales) under various stress
scenarios, and as a result, informs requirements for
our earmarked unencumbered liquid asset portfolios.
Our unencumbered liquid asset portfolios consist
of diversified, highly rated and liquid marketable
securities, deposits with banks and Credit Unions
which meet our internal credit ratings. These portfolios
are subject to minimum asset quality levels and, as

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | C.O.B CREDIT UNION LTD. 49

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
Treasurer’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021 (continued)

appropriate, other eligibility guidelines (e.g., maturity,
diversification and levels of capital) to maximize ready

access to additional cash should it be required. These
securities contribute to our liquidity reserve.

EXECUTION RISK DRIVERS
Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss or harm resulting
from people, inadequate or failed internal processes
and systems or from external events. Operational risk
is inherent in all our activities, including the practices
and controls used to manage other risks. Failure to
manage operational risk can result in direct or indirect
financial loss, reputational impact, regulatory censure,
or failure in the management of other risks such as
credit or market risk.
Our management of operational risk follows our
established three lines of defence governance model.
This model encompasses the organizational roles and
responsibilities for a co-ordinated enterprise-wide
approach for the management of operational risk.
For further details, refer to the risk management –
enterprise risk management section.

Operational Risk Framework
We have put in place an Enterprise Operational Risk
Framework, which is founded on the principles of our
Enterprise Risk Management Framework and sets out
the processes to identify, assess, manage, monitor and
report operational risk. The processes are established
through the following core programs:
Internal events:
Internal events are specific instances where operational
risk leads to or could have led to an unintended,
identifiable impact. The internal events program
provides a structured and consistent approach for
collecting and analyzing internal event data to facilitate
the analysis of the operational risk events affecting us.
External events:
External events are operational risk events that affect
institutions other than us. External event monitoring
and analysis is critical to gain awareness of operational
risk experience within the industry and to identify
emerging industry trends.
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Business Environment and Internal Control Factors
(BEICF) Assessments:
BEICF Assessments are conducted to improve business
decision-making by gaining awareness of the key
risks and the strengths and vulnerabilities of internal
controls. Key BEICF Assessment processes include:
risk and control self-assessments conducted at both
enterprise and business levels; change initiatives and
new/amended product assessments conducted to
ensure understanding of the risk and reward trade-off
for initiatives (e.g., new products, changes in business
processes, implementation of new technology, etc.);
and that we do not assume risks not aligned with our
risk appetite.
Scenario analysis:
Scenario analysis is a structured and disciplined
process for making reasonable assessments of
infrequent, yet plausible, severe operational risk
events. Understanding how vulnerable we are to such
“tail risks” identifies mitigating actions and informs the
determination of related operational risk thresholds
as part of the articulation of operational risk appetite.
BEICF monitoring:
BEICF monitoring is conducted on an ongoing basis
through key risk indicators and other assurance/
monitoring programs (e.g., business unit monitoring,
second line of defence monitoring, audit results, etc.).
Conclusions from the operational risk programs
enable learning based on what has happened to us,
could it happen again elsewhere in the Credit Union
and what controls we need to amend or implement,
support the articulation of operational risk appetite
and are used to inform the overall level of exposure
to operational risk, which defines our operational risk
profile. The profile includes significant operational risk
exposures, potential new and emerging exposures
and trends, and overall conclusions on the control
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environment and risk outlook. We proactively identify
and investigate corporate insurance opportunities
to mitigate and reduce potential future impacts of
operational risk.
We consider risk/reward decisions in striking the
balance between accepting potential losses versus
incurring costs of mitigation, the expression of which
is in the form of our operational risk appetite. Our
operational risk appetite is established at the Board
level and cascaded throughout each of our business
segments.
Management reports have been implemented
at various levels in order to support proactive
management of operational risk and transparency
of risk exposures. Reports are provided on a regular
basis and provide detail on the main drivers of the risk
status and trend for each of our business segments
and the Credit Union overall. In addition, changes
to the operational risk profile that are not aligned
to our business strategy or operational risk appetite
are identified and discussed. Our operations expose
us to many different operational risks, which may
adversely affect our businesses and financial results.
The following list is not exhaustive; as other factors
could also adversely affect our results.

Information technology and cyber risks
As we continue to digitize our business operations,
IT and cyber risks are present in the use, ownership,
operation, involvement and adoption of IT within our
organization. As described in the top and emerging
risk section of this report, the impact of a cyber-attack
could be significant to our business and members.
To manage our technology and cyber security risk,
we have established an enterprise-wide Information
Technology Risk Management Framework to establish
roles, responsibilities, and proper governance as it
relates to IT risk management. We are also advancing

our cyber defence and resiliency capabilities by
investing in our people, process and technologies to
support our business model, protect our members.

Third Party Risk
Third party risk continues to receive attention as we
increasingly engage third parties to augment our
operational capabilities. Failure to effectively onboard
and manage our service providers may expose us to
service disruption, financial loss, and other risks. We
have established a framework, which sets the guidelines
for how to minimize the impact and frequency of
exposures from third party relationships through
periodic risk assessments, continuous monitoring,
and review of contract and procurement practices to
ensure appropriate safeguards are in place.

Money Laundering and Terrorism Finance Risks
We have an enterprise-wide program to deter, detect
and report suspected money laundering and terrorist
financing activities. Our Anti-Money Laundering
and Terrorism Finance Compliance Department
is dedicated to the continuous development and
maintenance of robust policies, guidelines, training
and risk-assessment tools and models to help our
employees deal with ever-evolving money laundering
and terrorist financing risks.
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Operational risk loss events
During 2020, we did not experience any material
operational risk loss events.

Privacy Risk
Privacy risk relates to the improper use of personal
information or failing to safeguard confidential
member, employee or our proprietary information. We
are dedicated to protecting the personal information
entrusted to the organization. That commitment
is fundamental to the way we do business and is
reflected in our privacy policies and enterprise-wide
training; keeping privacy measures top of mind to
ensure personal information is protected across all
business processes from the outset.

Climate Change
Climate change continues to impact the frequency and
intensity of weather-related events. Although we have
not had a significant adverse impact from weatherrelated events through the course of the year, we have
a Business Continuity Management program in place
to ensure resiliency in the event of extreme weather
to ensure member and business impacts are minimal.
We have also developing products, services and advice
to assist our members in the transition to a low carbon
economy and in building financial resiliency in the face
of climate change.
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Regulatory compliance risk
Regulatory compliance risk is the risk of potential
non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations and
prescribed practices. Issues regarding compliance
with laws and regulations can arise in a number of
areas, and are often the result of inadequate or failed
internal processes, people or systems.
Laws and regulations are in place to protect the financial
and other interests of our members, depositors and
the public. As a financial institution, we are subject to
numerous laws and extensive and evolving regulation
by the Financial Services Commission. In recent years,
such regulation has become increasingly extensive and
complex. In addition, the enforcement of regulatory
matters has intensified.
Regulatory Compliance has developed a Regulatory
Compliance Management Framework, which sets
out how we manage and mitigate the regulatory
compliance risks associated with failing to comply
with, or adapt to, current and changing laws and
regulations.
Regulatory compliance risk includes the regulatory
risks associated with financial crimes (which include,
but are not limited to, money laundering, bribery
and sanctions), privacy, market conduct, consumer
protection, business conduct, prudential, and other
generally applicable non-financial requirements.
Specific compliance policies, procedures and
supporting frameworks have been developed to
manage regulatory compliance risk.

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
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STRATEGIC RISK DRIVERS
Strategic risk
Strategic risk is the risk that the Credit Union will make
inappropriate strategic choices, or will be unable to
successfully implement selected strategies or related
plans and decisions. Business strategy is a major driver
of our risk appetite and consequently the strategic
choices we make in terms of business mix determine
how our risk profile changes.
Responsibility for selecting and successfully
implementing business strategies is mandated to the
Executive Management Team. Oversight of strategic
risk is the responsibility of the Management of the
various business units.
The Enterprise Strategy
group comprising members of the Board, and Elected
Committees, Executive Management, Non-Executive,
Supervisory and Non-Supervisory staff supports the
management of strategic risk through the strategic
planning process (articulated within our Enterprise
Strategic Planning Policy) ensuring alignment across
our business, financial, capital and risk planning.
Our annual business portfolio review and project
approval request processes help identify and mitigate
strategic risk by ensuring strategies for new initiatives,
lines of business, and the enterprise as a whole
align with our risk appetite and risk posture. The
Risk Management Committee provides oversight of
strategic risk by providing independent review of these
processes, establishing enterprise risk frameworks,
and independently monitoring and reporting on
the level of risk established against our risk appetite
metrics in accordance with the three lines of defence
governance model.

Reputation risk
Reputation risk is the risk of an adverse impact on
stakeholders’ perception of the Credit Union due to
i) an activity of the Credit Union, its representatives,
service providers (third parties and intra-group), or
members, or ii) public sentiment towards a global
or industry issue. Our reputation is rooted in the
perception of our stakeholders, and the trust and
loyalty they place in us is core to our purpose as
a financial services organization. A strong and
trustworthy reputation will generally strengthen our
market position, reduce the cost of capital, strengthen

our resiliency, and help attract and retain top talent.
Conversely, damage to our reputation can result in
reduced share of market, increased cost of capital,
loss of strategic flexibility, inability to enter or expand
into markets, loss of member loyalty and business,
or regulatory fines and penalties. The sources of
reputation risk are widespread; risk to our reputation
can occur in connection with credit, regulatory,
legal and operational risks. We can also experience
reputation risk from a failure to maintain an effective
control environment, exhibit good conduct, or have
strong risk culture practices.
Managing our reputation risk is an integral part of
our organizational culture and our overall enterprise
risk management approach, as well as a priority for
employees and our Board. Our Board-approved
Reputation Risk Management Framework provides
an overview of our approach to identify, assess,
manage, monitor, and report on reputation risk. This
framework outlines governance authorities, roles
and responsibilities, and controls and mechanisms to
manage our reputation risk, including our culture of
integrity, compliance with our Code of Conduct, and
operating within our risk appetite.
Our governance of reputation risk aims to be holistic
and provide an integrated view of potential reputation
issues across the organization. This governance
structure ensures that ownership and accountability
for reputation risk are understood across the
enterprise, both proactive and reactive reputation
risk decisions are escalated to the Risk Management
Committee for review and evaluation, and reporting
on reputation risk is comprehensive and integrated.

Legal and regulatory environment risk
Legal and regulatory environment risk is the risk
that new or modified laws and regulations, and
the interpretation or application of those laws and
regulations, will negatively impact the way in which
we operate. The full impact of some of these changes
on our business will not be known until final rules are
implemented and market practices have developed
in response. We continue to respond to these and
other developments and are working to minimize any
potential adverse business or economic impact.
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Competitive risk
Competitive risk is the risk of an inability to build or
maintain a sustainable competitive advantage and
includes the potential for loss of market share due to
competitors offering superior products and services.
Competitive risk can arise within or outside the financial
sector, from traditional or non-traditional competitors.
The competition for members among financial
services companies is intense. Member loyalty and
retention can be influenced by a number of factors,
including new technology used or services offered
by our competitors, relative service levels and prices,
product and service attributes, our reputation, actions
taken by our competitors. Other companies, such as

insurance companies and non-financial companies,
are increasingly offering services traditionally provided
by Credit Unions. This competition could also reduce
net interest income and fee revenue and adversely
affect our results.
We identify and assess competitive risks as part of our
overall risk management process. Our products and
services are regularly benchmarked against existing
and potential competitors. In addition, we regularly
conduct risk reviews of our products and services. Our
annual strategy-setting process also plays an integral
role in managing competitive risk.

MACROECONOMIC RISK DRIVERS
Systemic risk
Systemic risk is the risk that the financial system
as a whole, or a major part of it is put in real and
immediate danger of collapse or serious damage with
the likelihood of material damage to the economy,
and that this will result in financial, reputation, legal or
other risks for us.
Our earnings are significantly affected by the general
business and economic conditions under which we
operate. These conditions include member saving
and spending habits as well as member borrowing
and repayment patterns, business investment,
government spending, exchange rates, sovereign debt
risks, the level of activity and volatility of the capital
markets, strength of the economy and inflation. For
example, an extended economic downturn may
result in higher unemployment and lower family
income, corporate earnings, business investment and
consumer spending, and could adversely affect the
demand for our loan and other products and result in
higher provisions for credit losses.
Our earnings are also sensitive to changes in interest
rates, which have decreased over the last year and
remain historically low. A continuing low interest
rate environment would result in net interest income
being unfavourably impacted by spread compression.
While an increase in interest rates would benefit our
businesses, a significant increase in interest rates
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could also adversely impact household balance sheets.
This could result in credit deterioration which might
negatively impact our financial results.
Systemic risk is considered to be the least controllable
risk facing us. Our ability to mitigate this risk when
undertaking business activities is limited, other than
through collaborative mechanisms between key
industry participants, and, as appropriate, the public
sector, to reduce the frequency and impact of these
risks. The two most significant measures in mitigating
the impact of systemic risk are diversification and
stress testing.
Our diversified business model, portfolios, products,
activities and funding sources help mitigate the
potential impacts from systemic risk. We also mitigate
systemic risk by establishing risk limits to ensure our
portfolio is well-diversified, and concentration risk is
reduced and remains within our risk appetite.
Stress testing involves consideration of the
simultaneous movements in a number of risk factors.
It is used to ensure our business strategies and capital
planning are robust by measuring the potential
impacts of credit, market, liquidity, and operational
risks on us, under adverse economic conditions. Our
enterprise-wide stress testing program evaluates the
potential effects of a set of specified changes in risk

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
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factors, corresponding to exceptional but plausible
adverse economic and financial market events. These
stress scenarios are evaluated across the organization,

and results are integrated to develop an enterprisewide view of the impacts on our financial results and
capital requirements.

James Paul
Treasurer

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021 | C.O.B CREDIT UNION LTD. 55

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE
CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Financial Statements
FI N A N C I A L S T A T E ME N T S
F O R TH E Y E A R E N DE D MA R C H 3 1 , 2 0 2 1

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
31 MARCH 2021| CONTENTS

Contents
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

63

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

64

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY

65-66

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

67-69

SCHEDULE TO STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

69-70

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

58

59-62

71-120

RBCI

Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
31 March 2021

To the Members of City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

Key Audit Matters

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union
Limited (“the Credit Union”), and those of the parent,
which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, the statements
of comprehensive income, cash flows, changes in
members’ equity for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated
financial statements and those of the parent present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Credit Union as at 31 March
2021, its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Credit Union
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Barbados, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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To the Members of City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Expected credit losses (ECLs)
Related disclosures in the financial statements are
included in Note 4: Significant accounting policies,
Note 6: Financial investments, Note 8: Loans to
members, and Note 20: Financial risk management.
This is a key audit matter as the estimation of ECLs
is inherently uncertain and requires the application
of judgment and use of subjective assumptions by
management. Furthermore, models used to determine
credit impairment are complex, and certain
inputs used are not fully observable. Management
compensates for any model and data deficiencies by
applying judgmental overlays to ECL model outputs.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
•

We evaluated the modelling techniques and
methodologies developed by the Group in order
to estimate ECLs, and assessed their compliance
with the requirements of IFRS 9.

•

We tested the completeness and accuracy of
input data to the models used to determine
the ECLs. We assessed the reasonableness of
the methodologies and assumptions applied in
determining 12 month and lifetime probabilities
of default (PD), loss given default (LGD), exposure
at default (EAD) and staging. We assessed external
source data and assumptions, particularly with
respect to forward looking information (FLI) by
testing to independent sources.

•
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We involved our IT specialist to evaluate
the methodology for validating models and
analysing modelling accuracy and consistency
of impairment parameters. He also assessed the
reasonableness of generation of FLI. We obtained
the third party appraisals performed for real
estate held as collateral and compared these
valuations to land tax values, where available, to
assess the reasonableness of the values used for
these real estates.

•

We assessed the reasonableness of all qualitative
adjustments or overlays derived outside of
specific model output.

•

We assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of financial investments
Related disclosures in the financial statements are
included in Note 4: Significant accounting policies,
Note 6: Financial investments, and Note 20: Financial
risk management. This is a key audit matter due to
the complexity of valuation models used to determine
fair value. These valuation models can be subjective in
nature and involve observable and unobservable data
and various assumptions. These include the valuation
of financial investments with higher estimation
uncertainty for which observable market prices or
market parameters are not available. The use of
different valuation techniques and assumptions could
result in significantly different estimates of fair value.
The associated risk management disclosure is also
complex and dependent upon high quality data.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
•

We reviewed the market prices applied to the
Credit Union’s debt securities by comparing the
prices used to an independent external source.

•

An external specialist was used to assess the
reasonableness of the fair value of securities
which did not have observable market prices.

•

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
31 March 2021

To the Members of City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the Treasurer’s
Report and the Board of Directors’ Report in the Annual
Report 2021, but does not include the Consolidated
Financial Statements and our Auditors’ Report thereon.
The Annual Report is expected to be made available to
us after the date of this Auditor’s Report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Credit
Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

When we read the Annual Report 2021, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

•

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or, our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or which appears to
be materially misstated.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
management is responsible for assessing the Credit
Union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
mis-representations, or the override of internal
control.
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To the Members of City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
•

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Credit Union’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

•

on
the
appropriateness
of
Conclude
management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease
to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Credit Union to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Credit
Union’s audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Other Matters
This report is made solely to the Credit Union’s
members, in accordance with the Co-operatives
Societies Act of Barbados. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Credit
Union’s members those matters we are required to
state in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to
any enactment or rule of law to the contrary, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Credit Union and the Credit Union’s members, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinion we
have formed.

Chartered Accountants
Barbados
August 5, 2021
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Statement of Financial Position as of 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

				
Notes

CONSOLIDATED
2021

2020

PARENT
2021

2020

$98,697,642
42,976,590
3,735,166
1,587,911
57,477,000
4,550,000
349,095,924
14,203,493
6,006,000
-

$72,540,723
33,767,461
2,402,141
1,236,095
55,125,983
4,550,000
349,455,001
14,048,940
6,006,000
-

$578,329,726

$539,132,344

$6,782,540
365,555
432,807,833
95,544,293

$6,064,797
323,434
400,676,656
89,589,609

$535,500,221

$496,654,496

29,581,021		
29,061,627
745,245		
542,246
312,222		
49,988
1,500,841		
942,154
11,754,290		
12,843,956

29,279,366
745,245
312,222
2,276,175
10,216,497

28,759,972
542,246
49,988
1,717,488
11,408,154

				
43,893,619		43,439,971

42,829,505

42,477,848

				 $579,962,302		$540,871,461

$578,329,726

$539,132,344

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents		
5		
Term deposits				
Receivable and prepaid expenses		
9		
Deferred charges				
Interest due and accrued				
Financial investments		
6		
Investment in wholly-owned subsidiary		
7		
Loans to members		
8		
Property and equipment		
10		
Investment property		
11		
Development land for resale		
12		

$99,281,368		
39,989,251		
5,084,174		
77,616		
1,587,911		
58,689,254		
-		
349,095,924		
18,551,630		
6,006,000		
1,599,174		

				
$579,962,302
Liabilities
Accounts payable		
13		
Interest payable				
Members’ deposits		
14		
Regulatory capital		
15		

$540,871,461		

$8,524,765		
365,555		
431,634,070		
95,544,293		

				
$536,068,683

$72,605,320
34,413,974
3,476,100
77,616
1,236,095
56,338,236
349,455,001
15,663,945
6,006,000
1,599,174

$7,658,277
323,434
399,860,170
89,589,609

$497,431,490		

Members’ equity
Statutory reserve		
16		
Special funds		
17		
Savings & loans benefit fund		
18		
Fair value reserves				
Undivided surplus				

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
Approved on August 5, 2021 by the Board.

President
Adlai Stevenson

Treasurer
James Paul
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Statement of Comprehensive Income Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

					CONSOLIDATED		
		
Interest income (expenses)

Notes

2021

2020

$19,410,785
(3,401,927)
(48,280)

$20,644,701
(3,441,435)
(88,944)
(58,048)

$19,410,785
(3,401,927)
(13,721)

$20,644,701
(3,441,435)
(88,944)
(20,051)

			15,960,578
Other income

17,056,274

15,995,137

17,094,271

Investment income		1,978,110
Rent			132,959
Fee income		1,168,592
Gain on disposal of property, equipment
and right-of-use assets		
Impairment gain on debt securities
6
1,792,331
Commissions		
181,386

2,338,846
226,273
1,640,310

1,929,546
132,959
1,137,783

2,249,212
226,273
1,566,342

59,040
1,544,768
189,273

1,792,331
28,644

59,040
1,544,768
73,970

			5,253,378

5,998,510

5,021,263

5,719,605

Net interest and other income		
21,213,956

23,054,784

21,016,400

22,813,876

15,453,485
15,588,485
15,357,920
Operating expenses (per schedule)		
Expected credit losses on loans		
2,800,000
900,000
2,800,000
Loss on revaluation of investment property		
1,660,000
Savings and loan protection
18
720,000
390,000
720,000
Loan loss recovery expenses		
20,144
44,291
20,144
Affiliation dues		
100,000
100,000
100,000
Loss on disposal of property, equipment					
and right-of-use assets		
4,220
4,220

15,409,942
900,000
1,660,000
390,000
44,293
100,000

Total expenditure		
19,097,849
18,682,776

19,002,284

18,504,235

Net surplus before distributions		2,116,107
Distributions
19
(2,172,244)

4,372,008
-

2,014,116
(2,172,244)

4,309,641
-

Net (loss) surplus		 (56,137)

4,372,008

(158,128)

4,309,641

Interest on loans		
Interest expense – members’ deposits		
Interest expense – loans payable		
Interest expense – lease payments
26

2021

PARENT
2020

Expenditure

-

Other comprehensive income					
Change in fair value of equity
investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
6
558,687
(169,777)
558,687
(169,777)
Total comprehensive income		

$502,550

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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$4,202,231

400,559

4,139,864

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity | Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

CONSOLIDATED
		Statutory
		 Reserves
		$

Special
Funds
$

Savings & Loans
Benefit Fund
$

Fair Value
Reserves
$

Undivided
Surplus
$

Total
$

Balances at 31 March 2019

27,546,607

860,485

281,215

1,111,931

9,964,358

39,764,596

Transfer		1,492,410
Net loss		
Other comprehensive income:Fair value gain on equity investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income		
Members’ shares below minimum
requirement		
Entrance fees and fines		
22,610
Net claims incurred		
Utilised during the year		
-

-

-

-

(1,492,410)
4,372,008

4,372,008

-

-

(169,777)

-

(169,777)

(318,239)

(231,227)
-

-

-

22,610
(231,227)
(318,239)

29,061,627

542,246

49,988

942,154

12,843,956

43,439,971

Transfer		503,529
Net loss		
Other comprehensive income:Fair value gain on equity investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income		
Members’ shares below minimum
requirement		315
Entrance fees and fines		
15,550
Net claims incurred		
Utilised during the year		
-

530,000
-

-

-

(1,033,529)
(56,137)

(56,137)

-

-

558,687

-

558,687

(327,001)

262,234
-

-

-

315
15,550
262,234
(327,001)

745,245

312,222

1,500,841

11,754,290

43,893,619

Balances at 31 March 2020

Balance at 31 March 2021

29,581,021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements					
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		Statutory
		 Reserves
		$

Special
Funds
$

Savings & Loans
Benefit Fund
$

Fair Value
Reserves
$

Undivided
Surplus
$

Total
$

Balances at 31 March 2019

860,485

281,215

1,887,265

8,590,923

38,864,840

Transfer		1,492,410
Net surplus		
Other comprehensive income:-						
Fair value gain on equity						
investments at fair value through						
other comprehensive income		
(169,777)
Members’ shares below minimum						
requirement		
Entrance fees and fines		
22,610
Net claims incurred		
(231,227)
Utilised during the year		
(318,239)
-

(1,492,410)
4,309,641

4,309,641

-

(169,777)

-

22,610
(231,227)
(318,239)

Balances at 31 March 2020		28,759,972

1,717,488

11,408,154

42,477,848

Transfer
503,529		 530,000
Net surplus		
Other comprehensive income:-						
Fair value gain on equity						
investments at fair value through						
other comprehensive income		
558,687
Members’ shares below minimum						
requirement		315
Entrance fees and fines		
15,550
Net claims incurred		
262,234
Utilised during the year		
(327,001)
-

(1,033,529)
(158,128)

(158,128)

-

558,687

-

315
15,550
262,234
(327,001)

Balances at 31 March 2021

10,216,497

42,829,505

27,244,952

29,279,366

542,246

745,245

49,988

312,222

2,276,175

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows | Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

					
CONSOLIDATED		PARENT
			Notes
Operating Activities

2021

2020

2021

2020

Net surplus				
56,137
$4,372,008
Adjustments for:					
Depreciation			
10
1,306,070
1,227,932
Impairment of investments			
6
(1,792,331)
(1,544,768)
Revaluation investment property				
1,660,000
Interest expense – members’ deposits			
3,401,927
3,441,435
Interest expense – loans payable				
88,944
Interest on loans				
(19,410,785) (20,644,701)
Investment income				
(1,978,110)
(2,338,846)
Net gain on disposal of property and equipment			
4,220
(59,040)
					
				
(18,525,146) (13,797,036)

$(158,128)

$4,309,641

998,972
(1,792,331)
3,401,927
(19,410,785)
(1,929,546)
4,220

918,308
(1,544,768)
1,660,000
3,441,435
88,944
(20,644,701)
(2,249,212)
(59,040)

(18,885,671) (14,079,393)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Loans to members (net of impaired loans)			
(2,440,923)
(5,404,285)
(2,440,923)
(5,404,285)
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses			
(1,608,074)
(2,234,377)
(1,333,025)
(1,337,026)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses			
866,488
2,107,118
717,744
1,108,474
Members’ deposits				
31,773,900
30,699,793
32,131,177
30,374,823
Liabilities qualifying as regulatory capital			
5,954,684
2,123,201
5,954,684
2,123,201
								
Net cash used in operations				
16,020,929
13,494,414
16,143,986
12,785,794
Interest received on loans				
17,939,690
19,301,923
17,939,690
19,301,923
Interest paid – members’ deposits				
(3,330,947)
(3,566,730)
(3,444,049)
(3,456,166)
Interest paid – loans payable				
(88,944)
(88,944)
					
Net cash from operating activities				
$30,629,672 $29,140,663
$30,639,627 $28,542,607

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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					CONSOLIDATED		
			Notes
Investing Activities

2021

PARENT

2020

2021

2020

IInvestment income received				
$2,245,391
$2,876,718
Investments sold (acquired) (net)				
(1,947,603) (10,271,200)
Property and equipment (acquired)
		
10
(4,197,975)
(2,701,731)
Proceeds from disposal of property and					
equipment				
(4,220)
59,040
					
Net cash used in investing activities			
(3,904,407) (10,037,173)

$2,196,827
(5,468,353)

$1,922,982
(8,693,433)

(1,157,745)

(1,341,195)

(4,220)

59,040

(4,433,491)

(8,052,606)

Financing Activities
						
Entrance fees and fines				
15,550
22,610
15,550
22,610
Savings and loans benefit fund			
18
262,234
(231,227)
262,234
(231,227)
Special funds payments			
17
(327,001)
(318,239)
(327,001)
(318,239)
Repayment of loans payable				
(4,060,783)
(4,060,783)
					
Net cash (used in) financing activities			
(49,217)
(4,587,639)
(49,217) (4,587,639)
					
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents equivalents		
26,676,048
14,515,851
26,156,919
15,902,362
					
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year			
72,605,320
58,089,469
72,540,723
56,638,361
					
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year			
$99,281,368 $72,605,320
$98,697,642 $72,540,723

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED		PARENT
			
Notes

2021
2020
2021
2020
Operating expenses							

Personnel							
Salaries and wages				
$6,802,628
$7,492,537
6,739,722
$7,416,071
Employee social and health benefits 				
166,305
158,075
166,305
158,075
Medical insurance				
150,299
148,958
150,299
148,958
Pension contribution			
21
116,264
116,482
116,264
116,482
Staff uniforms				
108,430
104,593
106,230
104,593
Employee education				
99,502
201,510
98,672
197,600
Employee recruitment				
691
691
					
8,222,846
7,377,492
8,142,470
				 7,443,428

Office

						

Computer supplies/services				
1,486,603
1,264,162
Utilities				
564,953
522,110
Postage and stationery				
106,177
130,983
Office supplies				
59,123
47,910
					
				$2,216,856
$1,965,165

1,486,604
564,953
96,276
59,027

1,264,162
522,110
120,373
35,171

$2,206,860

$1,941,816

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Operating expenses (continued)
					CONSOLIDATED		
		Notes		
Other

2021

2020

2021

2020

Depreciation		
10		
$1,306,070
Value added tax				
615,370
Direct cost of service				
603,362
Marketing and promotion				
420,657
Repairs and maintenance				
265,253
Motor vehicles				
293,038
Security				
313,518
Advertising				
252,760
General meetings				
242,522
239,845
Professional fees				
Insurance				
235,948
Executive honorarium				
216,450
Licenses & fees				
207,162
Property tax				
178,114
Cleanings				
128,778
Member relations				
101,909
Rental				
(98,628)
Committees’ expenses				
70,186
Subscriptions				
51,354
Bank charges				
50,968
Collection fees				
46,398
Entertainment				
26,164
Committee conventions/training				
18,880
Commission expense				
6,900
Miscellaneous				
223

$1,227,932
568,834
405,483
386,343
160,470
303,668
253,798
256,305
165,895
248,500
255,051
205,950
163,434
189,399
122,306
172,976
(70,708)
67,781
20,816
58,959
18,291
72,137
145,847
1,007

$998,972
615,370
603,362
420,657
264,773
293,038
313,518
252,760
242,522
219,045
235,948
173,400
198,992
162,814
128,778
101,909
290,258
63,953
51,354
50,482
46,398
26,164
18,880
221

$918,308
568,834
405,483
343,842
155,910
303,668
253,798
254,409
165,895
229,350
255,051
173,400
157,259
171,455
122,306
172,976
300,159
57,135
20,816
58,322
18,291
72,137
145,847
1,005

5,793,201

5,400,474

5,773,568

5,325,656

$15,453,485

$15,588,485

15,357,920

15,409,942

				
Total operating expenses				

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

1.

Incorporation
City of Bridgetown Co-operative Credit Union
Limited (“the Credit Union”) was registered on 20
October 1983 as Society No.71 under the Cooperative Societies Act of Barbados 1990-23
(“the Act”). The Credit Union, in accordance with
Section 241(1) of the Act submitted the necessary
documents to the Registrar of Co-operative
Societies for its Certificate of Continuance, which
was issued on 22 June 1994.
The registered office of the Credit Union is
located at Lower Broad Street, Bridgetown, St.
Michael.

2.

Principal activities
The Credit Union and its subsidiary (“the Group”)
exist principally to promote the economic
interests of their members in accordance with
co-operative principles. The Group provides
savings products and credit facilities. In addition,
the Group is engaged in buying, developing and
selling land. The Credit Union owns 100% of the
issued and outstanding common shares of C.O.B
Financial Services and Insurance Inc., a company
that was incorporated under the Companies Act
of Barbados on 21 May 2001 and commenced
operations on 1 June 2008.

3.

Changes in
disclosures

accounting

policies

and

Standards, amendments and interpretations
effective in 2021
During the year, certain new standards,
interpretations and amendments to the existing
standards became effective. Management has
assessed these new standards, interpretations
and amendments to the existing standards, and
except for IFRS 3 and Amendments to IAS 1 and
IAS 8 – Definition of Material, there were no other
standards that had any significant impact on the
preparation of these financial statements.

had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but may impact future
periods should the Group enter into any business
combinations.
Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all
hedging relationships that are directly affected
by interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging
relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to
uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item
or the hedging instrument. These amendments
have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as it does not have any
interest rate hedge relationships.
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of
Material
The amendments provide a new definition of
material that states, “information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity”. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information,
either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial
statements. A misstatement of information is
material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users.
These amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements, nor is there
expected to be any future impact to the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business
The Amendment to IFRS 3: Business
Combinations clarifies that to be considered
a business, an integrated set of activities and
assets must include, at a minimum, an input and
a substantive process that, together, significantly
contribute to the ability to create, can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes
needed to create outputs. These amendments
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3.

Changes in accounting
disclosures (continued)

policies

and

has not adopted them in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.
•

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts.

•

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

•

Reference to Conceptual Framework Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a
Business

•

Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use Amendments to IAS
16

•

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract – Amendments to IAS 37

•

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary
as a first-time adopter

•

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in
the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of
financial liabilities

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions

•

IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value
measurements

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19
Related Rent Concessions – amendment to IFRS
16 Leases. The amendments provide relief to
lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may
elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent
concession from a lessor is a lease modification.
A lessee that makes this election accounts for
any change in lease payments resulting from the
Covid-19 related rent concession the same way
it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if
the change were not a lease modification.

None of these standards are expected to have a
significant impact on the financial statements of
the Credit Union in the period of adoption.

Standards, amendments and interpretations
effective in 2021 (continued)
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued on 29 March 2018
The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and
none of the concepts contained therein override
the concepts or requirements in any standard.
The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is
to assist the IASB in developing standards, to
help preparers develop consistent accounting
policies where there is no applicable standard
in place and to assist all parties to understand
and interpret the standards. This will affect
those entities which developed their accounting
policies based on the Conceptual Framework.
The revised Conceptual Framework includes
some new concepts, updated definitions and
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities
and clarifies some important concepts. These
amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

The amendment applies to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier
application is permitted. This amendment had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments
to standards are effective for annual periods
beginning after 1 January 2019 and earlier
application is permitted. However, the Group
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4.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
These financial statements are prepared
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). These policies have
been consistently applied to all years presented,
unless otherwise stated.
Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial
investments classified as investments at FVOCI
and investment property which have been
measured at fair value.
Basis of consolidation
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting
rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the
Group.
The purchase method of accounting is used
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given
and liabilities incurred, plus costs attributable to
the acquisition.

The Group based its assumptions and estimates
on parameters available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing
circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to
market changes or circumstances beyond the
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected
in the assumptions when they occur.
Fair value of financial investments

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between the
subsidiaries are eliminated.

Where the fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded on the statement of
financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using a variety
of valuation techniques that include the use
of mathematical models. The inputs to these
models are derived from observable market
data where possible, but if this is not available,
judgement is required to establish fair values.

Investment in subsidiary (parent only)

Impairment losses on financial assets

The investment in subsidiary is accounted for
by the cost method, whereby the investment
is initially recorded at cost and income from
the investment which is recognised only to the
extent that it represents distributions from
accumulated profits arising after the date of
the acquisition. Distributions received in excess
of such profits are regarded as recovery of the
investment and are recognised as a reduction of
the cost of the investment.

The measurement of impairment losses under
IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation
of the amount and timing of future cash flows and
collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, changes in which
can result in different levels of allowances.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, as well as the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods.

The Group’s Expected Credit Loss (ECL)
calculations are outputs of complex models
with a number of underlying assumptions
regarding the choice of variable inputs and their
interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models
that are considered accounting judgements and
estimates include:
•

The Group’s internal credit grading model,
which assigns a probability of default (PD)
to the individual grades

•

The Group’s criteria for assessing if there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk, and therefore allowances for financial
assets should be measured on a Lifetime
ECL (LTECL) basis and the qualitative
assessment

•

The segmentation of financial assets when
their ECL is assessed on a collective basis

Estimates and assumptions
Described below are the key assumptions
concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment losses on financial assets
(continued)
•

Development of ECL models, including the
various formulas and the choice of inputs

•

Determination of associations between
macro-economic scenarios and, economic
inputs, such as unemployment levels and
collateral values, and the effect on PDs,
Exposure at Default (EADs) and Loss Given
Default (LGDs)

•

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs
into the ECL models

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review
its models in the context of actual loss experience
and adjust when necessary.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
Going concern
The Group’s management has made an
assessment of its ability to continue as a going
concern and is satisfied that it has the resources
to continue in business for the foreseeable
future. Furthermore, management is not aware
of any material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going concern basis.
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method
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The Group’s EIR method, as explained in Note 27,
recognises interest income using a rate of return
that represents the best estimate of a constant
rate of return over the expected behavioural life
of loans and deposits and recognises the effect
of potentially different interest rates charged at
various stages and other characteristics of the

product life cycle (including prepayments and
penalty interest and charges).
This estimation, by nature, requires an element
of judgement regarding the expected behaviour
and life-cycle of the instruments as other fee
income/expenses that are integral parts of the
instrument.
Determination of the lease term for lease
contracts with renewal and termination
options (Credit Union as a lessee)
The Group determines the lease term as the
non-cancellable term of the lease, together with
any periods covered by an option to extend the
lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or
any periods covered by an option to terminate
the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be
exercised. The Group has several lease contracts
that include extension and termination options.
The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether it is reasonably certain whether or not
to exercise the option to renew or terminate the
lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that
create an economic incentive for it to exercise
either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the
lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control that
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise
the option to renew or to terminate.
Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (‘IBR’) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow
over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’,
which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when
they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases
are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entityspecific adjustments (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating, or to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease).

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise savings
accounts, short term deposits with an initial
maturity of less than or equal to ninety (90) days
and cash on hand.
Financial assets – initial recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset or financial liability at its fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or
financial liability not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs that are incremental
and directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of the financial asset or financial liability,
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs
of financial assets and financial liabilities carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss. Immediately after initial
recognition, an expected credit loss allowance
(ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured
at amortised cost and investments in debt
instruments measured at FVOCI, as described
in Note 20, which results in an accounting loss
being recognised in profit or loss when an asset
is newly originated.
When the fair value of financial assets and
liabilities differs from the transaction price on
initial recognition, the entity recognises the
difference as follows:
(a)

When the fair value is evidenced by
a quoted price in an active market for an
identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1
input) or based on a valuation technique
that uses only data from observable
markets, the difference is recognised as a
gain or loss.

(b)

In all other cases, the difference is deferred
and the timing of recognition of deferred
day one profit or loss is determined
individually. It is either amortised over the
life of the instrument, deferred until the
instrument’s fair value can be determined
using market observable inputs, or realised
through settlement.

(i)

Amortised cost

(ii)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI);

The classification requirements for debt and
equity instruments are described below:
Debt instruments
Debt instruments are those instruments
that meet the definition of a financial liability
from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans,
government and corporate bonds and trade
receivables purchased from clients in factoring
arrangements without recourse.
Classification and subsequent measurement of
debt instruments depend on:
(i)

the Group’s business model for managing
the asset; and

(ii)

the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its
debt instruments into one of the following two
measurement categories:
Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated
at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost. The
carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by
any expected credit loss allowance recognised
and measured as described in Note 21. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective
interest rate method. The Group has designated
its debt instruments at amortised cost.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

•

how the asset’s performance is evaluated
and reported
to
key
management
personnel

•

how risks are assessed and managed, and
how managers are compensated

•

the expected frequency, value and timing
of sales are also important aspects of the
Group’s assessment

Financial assets (continued)
Fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, and that are not designated at
FVPL, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through OCI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised
cost which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in ‘Net Investment Income’.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective
interest rate method.
The Group’s policy is to designate equity
investments as FVOCI when those investments
are held for purposes other than to generate
investment returns. When this election is used,
fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI
and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) are not
reported separately from other changes in fair
value. Dividends, when representing a return on
such investments, continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.
Business model: the business model reflects
how the Group manages the assets in order to
generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s
objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or is to collect both the
contractual cash flows and cash flows arising
from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g.
financial assets are held for
trading purposes), then the financial assets are
classified as part of ‘other’ business model and
measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the
Group in determining the business model for a
group of assets include:
•
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past experience on how the cash flows for
these assets were collected

The business model assessment is based on
reasonably expected scenarios without taking
‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios into
account. If cash flows after initial recognition
are realised in a way that is different from the
Group’s original expectations, the Group does
not change the classification of the remaining
financial assets held in that business model, but
incorporates such information when assessing
newly originated or newly purchased financial
assets going forward.
The SPPI (solely payments of principle and
interest) test
As a second step of its classification process the
Group assesses the contractual terms of the
financial assets to identify whether they meet
the SPPI test.
‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined
as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition and may change over the life
of the financial asset (for example, if there are
repayments of principal or amortisation of the
premium/discount).
The most significant elements of interest
within a lending arrangement are typically the
consideration for the time value of money and
credit risk. To perform the SPPI assessment, the
Group applies judgement and considers relevant
factors such as the currency in which the financial
asset is denominated, and the period for which
the interest rate is set.
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce
a more than de minimis exposure to risks or
volatility in the contractual cash flows that are
unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do
not give rise to contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial
asset is required to be measured at FVPL.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

•

Significant change in the interest rate.

Financial assets (continued)

•

Insertion of collateral, other security
or credit enhancements that significantly
affect the credit risk associated with the
loan.

Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis,
the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with
its debt instrument assets carried at amortised
cost and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
The Group recognises a loss allowance for such
losses at each reporting date.
The measurement of ECL reflects:
•

An unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes;

•

The time value of money; and

•

Reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or
effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Note 20 provides more detail of how the expected
credit loss allowance is measured.
(i)

Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise
modifies the contractual cash flows of loans
to members. When this happens, the Group
assesses whether or not the new terms are
substantially different to the original terms. The
Group does this by considering, among others,
the following factors:
•

If the borrower is in financial difficulty,
whether the modification merely reduces
the contractual cash flows to amounts the
borrower is expected to be able to pay.

•

Whether any substantial new terms are
introduced, such as a profit share/equitybased return that substantially affects the
risk profile of the loan.

•

Significant extension of the loan term when
the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

If the terms are substantially different, the
Group derecognises the original financial asset
and recognises a ‘new’ asset at fair value and
recalculates a new effective interest rate for the
asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently
considered to be the date of initial recognition
for impairment calculation purposes, including
for the purpose of determining whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred.
However, the Group also assesses whether the
new financial asset recognised is deemed to be
credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially
in circumstances where the renegotiation was
driven by the debtor being unable to make the
originally agreed payments. Differences in the
carrying amount are also recognised in profit or
loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.
(ii)

Derecognition other than on a
modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are
derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows from the assets have
expired, or when they have been transferred
and either (i) the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and the
Group has not retained control.
(iii) Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference between the carrying value of the
original financial liability and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Collateral valuation
The Credit Union seeks to use collateral, where
possible, to mitigate its risks on financial assets.
The collateral comes in various forms such
as cash, securities and real estate. The fair
value of collateral is generally assessed, at a
minimum, at inception and based on the Credit
Union’s quarterly reporting schedule. However,
some collateral, for example, cash or securities
relating to margin requirements, is valued daily.
To the extent possible, the Credit Union uses
active market data for valuing financial assets,
held as collateral. Other financial assets which
do not have a readily determinable market
value are valued using valuation models. Nonfinancial collateral, such as real estate, is valued
based on data provided by third parties such
as independent valuations, audited financial
statements, and other independent sources.
Collateral repossessed
The Credit Union’s policy is to determine whether
a repossessed asset is best used for its internal
operations or should be sold. Assets determined
to be useful for the internal operations are
transferred to their relevant asset category
at the lower of their repossessed value or the
carrying value of the original secured asset.
Assets that are determined better to be sold are
immediately transferred to assets held-for-sale
at their fair value at the repossession date in line
with the Credit Union’s policy.
Recognition of income and expenses
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue can be reliably
measured. The following specific recognition
criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised.
Interest income and interest expense
For all financial instruments measured at
amortised cost, interest bearing financial assets
classified as available-for-sale, interest income
or expense is recorded using the EIR. EIR is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or financial liability.
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The calculation takes into account all contractual
terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) and includes any fees or
incremental costs that are directly attributable
to the instrument and are an integral part of the
EIR, but not future credit losses.
The carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises
its estimates of payments or receipts. The
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based
on the original EIR and the change in carrying
amount is recorded as interest income for
financial assets and interest expense for financial
liabilities. However, for a reclassified financial
asset for which the Credit Union subsequently
increases its estimates of future cash receipts as
a result of increased recoverability of those cash
receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised
as an adjustment to the EIR from the date of the
change in estimate.
Fee income
The Credit Union earns fee income from loan
services it provides to its members.
Fees earned for the provision of services over
a period of time are accrued over that period.
These fees include costs relating to mortgages
such as preparation fees, loan application fees,
late payment fees, legal services and transaction
fees.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s
right to receive the payment is established.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, equipment and right-of-use assets
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net
of accumulated depreciation and any recognised
impairment loss. Changes in the expected
useful life are accounted for by changing
the amortisation period or methodology, as
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting
estimates. Right-of-use assets are presented
together with property and equipment in the
statement of financial position. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Depreciation is provided on
a straight-line basis, at rates sufficient to write
off the cost of the assets over their estimated
useful lives. The annual rates used are:
Buildings - 2%
Computer equipment - 33 1/3% & 20%
Office equipment - 20% & 10%
Motor vehicles - 20%
Leasehold improvements - 20%
Furniture and fittings - 20% & 10%
Right-of-use assets - 10% & 20%
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the
net book value of the asset and is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.
Intangible assets
The Group’s intangible assets include the value
of computer software. An intangible asset is
recognised only when its cost can be measured
reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are attributable to
it will flow to the Group.
Intangible assets acquired separately are
measured on initial recognition at cost. The
cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is their fair value as at the date
of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are amortised over the useful
economic life. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each

financial year end. Changes in the expected useful
life or the expected pattern of consumption of
future economic benefits embodied in the asset
are accounted for by changing the amortisation
period or method, as appropriate, and they are
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with
finite lives is included in the depreciation expense
in the statement of comprehensive income.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight–
line method to write down the cost of intangible
assets to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Computer software - 20%
Investment property
Investment property is measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is stated
at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. Fair values are determined based on an
annual evaluation performed by an accredited
external independent valuer or land tax values,
where available.
Investment property is derecognised either
when it has been disposed of, or when it is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefit is expected from its disposal.
The difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
is recognised in the income statement in the
period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to (or from) investment
property only when there is a change in use.
For a transfer from investment property to
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for
subsequent accounting is the fair value at the
date of change in use. If owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under property and equipment
up to the date of change in use.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Development land for resale
Land under development or held for sale is
classified as development property when
actions are taken to either develop or sell the
land. Development property includes all land
acquisition and development costs included
prior to sale. Gains and losses realised on the
sale of development property are included in
other income or expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income at the time of sale. A sale
is recognised upon execution of the conveyance.
Impairment of non–financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date
whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s or Cash Generating Unit’s (CGU) fair
value, less costs to sell and its value in use. Where
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value, using a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money,
and the risks specific to the asset. In determining
fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate
valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted
share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or
other available fair value indicators.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is
made at each reporting date as to whether there
is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change
in the assumptions used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor
exceeds the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation, had no
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impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses relating to
goodwill are not reversed in future periods.
Liabilities qualifying as regulatory capital
In accordance with the requirements of IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRIC
2: Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities
and Similar Instruments, the Credit Union
has classified the amounts contributed by
its members for shares as financial liabilities
since the members have the right to demand
full repayment thereof. The shares qualify as
capital for regulatory purposes despite their
classification as financial liabilities. Distributions
to members are also recorded as financial
expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The expense relating
to any provision is presented in the income
statement net of any reimbursement.
Foreign currencies
Transactions originating in foreign currencies are
recorded in Barbados dollars at the exchange
rates existing at the dates of the transactions.
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Barbados dollars
at mid-market rates existing at the end of the
financial year. Gains and losses on exchange
transactions are included in the determination
of income.
Pension contributions
Effective 1 January 2004, the Credit Union
established a defined contribution plan for
its employees. Total contributions made by
the Credit Union are recorded as a personnel
expense and included in the operating expenses
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Taxation

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Rightof-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Credit Union’s subsidiary is subject to
taxes. Taxation expense in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income comprises current and
deferred tax charges. Current tax charges are
based on taxable profits for the year, which
defer from the income before taxation reported
because it excludes items that are taxable or
deductible in other years, and items that are
never taxable or deductible.
The company’s
liability for current tax is calculated at tax rates
which have been enacted at Statement of
Financial Position date.
Deferred tax is tax expected to be paid
or recovered on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax
is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. Currently
enacted tax rates are used in the determination
of deferred income tax. Deferred income tax is
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That
is, if the contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.
Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

The right-of-use assets are presented within
Note 10: Property, equipment and right-of-use
assets and are subject to impairment in line
with the Group’s policy as described in Note 4:
Impairment of non-financial assets.
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the
Group recognises lease liabilities measured
at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (less any lease incentives
receivable), variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects exercising the option to terminate.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
Purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets (POCI)
For POCI financial assets, the Group only
recognises the cumulative changes in Lifetime
Expected Credit Losses (LTECL) since initial
recognition in the loss allowance.
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5.

Cash and cash equivalents
					CONSOLIDATED
				

6.

PARENT

2021

2020

2021

2020

Short term deposits				
Saving and chequing accounts				
Cash on hand				

$12,922,661
81,785,146
4,573,561

$13,225,129
56,150,199
3,229,992

$12,922,661
81,201,420
4,573,561

$13,225,129
56,085,852
3,229,742

				

$99,281,368

$72,605,320

$98,697,642

$72,540,723

					CONSOLIDATED		

PARENT

Financial investments

				
2021
Amortised cost
Government securities
(net of credit loss)				
$51,551,020
Fair value through other comprehensive income
Equities				
Total				

2020

2021

2020

$49,758,689

$51,551,020

$49,758,689

7,138,234

6,579,547

5,925,980

5,367,294

$58,689,254

$56,338,236

$57,477,000 $55,125,983

During the year, the Group recorded a net unrealised gain of $558,687 (2020 –loss of $169,777) being the change in fair
value on equity investments on revaluation, representing the difference between their fair market value at the beginning
and end of the year.
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6.

Financial investments (continued)
Government of Barbados debt securities in
default
In June 2018, the Government of Barbados
(GOB) suspended all payments to Creditors of its
domestic commercial debt. Interest payments
due on June 5, 2018 were not made. Principal
payments on matured domestic debt were
suspended and debt holders were required to
roll-over the principal balances.
As at March 31, 2021, Government of Barbados
debt is comprised as follows:

Series B
A 15-year amortising bond with interest rates
ranging from 1.0% for the first 3 years, 2.0% in
year 4 to 3.75% for years 5 through to maturity.
Interest on these bonds is to be paid quarterly.
The principal will be repaid in four equal
quarterly instalments commencing one year
prior to maturity.
Series D
A 35-year amortising bond with interest
ratesranging from 1.5% for the first 5 years to
7.5% for years 16 through to maturity. Interest
on these bonds is paid quarterly. The principal
will
be repaid in three equal instalments
commencing one year prior to maturity with the
final payment on August 31, 2053.
The movement in the carrying values of GOB
debt for the year ended March 31, 2021 is
summarized as follows:

Government of Barbados Debt securities
2021

						
			
Series B
Series D
Total
Gross carrying amount subsequent to default
Impairment gain
		

$40,827,557
1,710,087

$1,831,132
82,244

$42,658,689
1,792,331

Carrying value as of March 31, 2021			

$42,537,644

$1,913,376

$44,451,020

2020

						
			
Series B
Series D
Total

Gross carrying amount subsequent to default
Impairment gain			

$39,342,450
1,485,107

$1,771,471
59,661

$41,113,921
1,544,768

Carrying value as of March 31, 2020			

$40,827,557

$1,831,132

$42,658,689

The average effective yield during the year or debt securities was 2% (2020 - 3.1%)

The Group has unquoted equity investments in
Co-operators General Insurance Co. Ltd and Cooperators General Management Co. Inc. These
unquoted equity investments are shown at their
fair value and the resulting unrealized gain is
recorded in the other comprehensive income.

At March 31, 2021, the fair value of unquoted
equity investments was based on valuations
done by management for each of these unquoted
investments, using a range of generally accepted
valuation models.

83

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

7.

Investment in wholly-owned subsidiary
The Credit Union owns 100% of the issued and outstanding common shares of C.O.B. Financial Services
and Insurance Inc. (formerly named C.O.B Financial Services Inc.), a company that was incorporated under
the Companies Act of Barbados on 21 May 2001.
The investment is made up as follows:
					 PARENT

					2021
Common shares
Balance - At end of the year				
$1,500,000

8.

2020
$1,500,0000

Preference shares (6.75%)
Balance - At beginning of the year				

3,050,000

3,050,000

Balance - At end of the year				

3,050,000

3,050,000

Total				
$4,550,000

$4,550,000

Loans to members

CONSOLIDATED
				 2021

2020

Amortised cost

Land and housing				
$257,879,277
Other (including line of credit loans)				
38,046,959
Vehicles				 26,428,938
Debt consolidation				
20,357,515
Personal				
14,145,239
Business				
2,200,262
				
359,058,190

$252,228,245
40,466,229
25,029,192
21,094,561
15,722,896
2,152,937
356,694,060

(9,962,266)

(7,239,059)

				
$349,095,924

$345,455,001

Expected credit loss allowance (Note 20)				
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9.

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
					CONSOLIDATED
				

PARENT

2021

2020

2021

2020

$1,571,581
1,264,694
2,032,177
79,656
95,373
40,693

$449,411
1,193,407
1,638,632
78,400
88,155
28,095

$1,571,582
746,065
1,201,797
79,656
95,373
40,693

$449,412
887,648
870,435
78,396
88,155
28,095

				$5,084,174

$3,476,100

$3,735,166

$2,402,141

Prepaid computer services				
Other receivables				
Other prepaid expenses				
Prepaid insurance				
Utility deposits				
Staff loans				

85

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets

							CONSOLIDATED
			
Land – Broad Street
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation
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Net book
Value

Balances – At 31 March 2019 				
$5,569,297
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				Balances – At 31 March 2020				
5,569,297

-

$5,569,297
5,569,297

Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				Balances – At 31 March 2021				
5,569,297

-

5,569,297

Buildings
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$10,005,239
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

$3,297,886
200,177

$6,707,353
(200,177)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
10,005,239
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
		
Balances – At 31 March 2021				
10,005,239

3,498,063
200,177

6,507,176
(200,177)

3,698,240

6,306,999

Computer equipment
Balances - At 31 March 2019				
$5,156,274
Additions				
396,193
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

$4,401,107
330,735

$ 755,167
396,193
(330,735)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				

5,552,467
73,859
(4,220)
-

4,731,842
366,849

820,625
73,859
(4,220)
(366,849)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				

5,622,106

5,098,691

523,415

Computer software
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
4,416,248
Additions				
258,129
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

4,015,900
102,980

400,348
258,129
(102,980)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Depreciation				

4,674,377
233,732
-

4,118,880
174,822

555,497
233,732
(174,822)

$4,908,109

$4,293,702

$614,407

Balances – At 31 March 2021				
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

							CONSOLIDATED
Office equipment				
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation

Net Book
Value

Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$1,306,128
Additions				
43,493
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

$1,212,660
39,814

$93,468
43,493
(39,814)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
1,349,621
Additions				
32,403
Disposals				Depreciation				
Balances – At 31 March 2021				
1,382,024

1,252,474
44,556
1,297,030

97,147
32,403
(44,556)
84,994

Motor vehicles
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				

$1,158,739
277,445
(330,405)
-

$733,477
(320,721)
140,298

$425,262
277,445
(9,684)
(140,298)

Balances - At 31 March 2020				
1,105,779
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
Balances – At 31 March 2021				
1,105,779

553,054
116,832
669,886

552,725
(116,832)
435,893

Furniture and fittings
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$1,352,580
Additions				
6,319
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

$1,282,792
33,342

$69,788
6,319
(33,342)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
1,358,899
Additions				
25,727
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

1,316,134
24,341

42,765
25,727
(24,341)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				

1,384,626

1,340,475

44,151

Leasehold improvements
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$821,269
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

$642,123
94,492

$179,146
(94,492)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				

821,269
3,832,254
(367,011)
-

736,615
(367,011)
92,400

84,654
3,832,254
(92,400)

$4,286,512

$462,004

$3,824,508

Balances – At 31 March 2021				
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

							
Right-of-use assets
Balances – At 31 March 2019				Additions				
$1,720,152
Disposals				Depreciation				
286,094

$1,720,152
(286,094)

			
Balances – At 31 March 2021
1,720,152
286,094
1,434,058
								
Summary
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$29,785,775
$15,585,945
$14,199,830
Additions				
2,701,731
2,701,731
Disposals				
(330,405)
(320,721)
(9,684)
Depreciation				
1,227,932
(1,227,932)
Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				
Balances – At 31 March 2021				
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32,157,101
4,197,975
(367,012)
-

16,493,156
(362,792)
1,306,070

15,663,945
4,197,975
(4,220)
(1,306,070)

$35,988,064

$17,436,434

$18,551,630
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

							
Land - Broad Street				
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation

PARENT
Net Book
Value

Balances – At 31 March 2019				
$5,569,297
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				-

-

$5,569,297
-

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
5,569,297
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				-

-

5,569,297
-

Balance – At 31 March 2021				

5,569,297

-

5,569,297

Buildings – Broad Street
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
10,005,239
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

3,297,886
200,175

6,707,353
(200,175)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
10,005,239
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

3,498,061
200,175

6,507,178
(200,175)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				

10,005,239

3,698,240

6,506,999

Computer equipment
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
5,132,912
Additions				
396,193
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

4,382,074
329,163

750,838
396,193
(329,163)

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				

5,529,105
73,859
(4,220)
-

4,711,237
364,090

817,868
73,859
(4,220)
(364,090)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				

5,598,744

5,075,327

523,417
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

							
				
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation
Computer software
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
4,405,129
4,008,488
Additions				
258,129
Disposals				Depreciation				
99,273
Balances – At 31 March 2020				
4,663,258
Additions				
233,728
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

Net Book
Value
396,641
258,129
(99,273)

4,107,761
174,822

555,497
233,728
(174,822)

$4,896,986

$4,282,583

$614,403

Office equipment
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
1,306,128
Additions 				
43,493
Disposals				Depreciation				
-

1,212,659
39,814

93,469
43,493
(39,814)

Balances – At 31 March 2020
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

1,349,621
32,403
-

1,252,473
44,556

97,148
32,403
- 		
(44,556)

Balances – At 31 March 2021

1,382,024

1,297,029

84,995

Motor vehicles
Balances - At 31 March 2019
585,393
Additions					Disposals				
(330,405)
Depreciation					-

552,333
(320,721)
23,466

33,060
(9,684)
(23,466)

255,078
-

(90)
-

255,078

(90)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				

Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				
Balance – At 31 March 2021
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254,988
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

					
							
					
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation

PARENT
Net Book
Value

Furniture and fittings
Balances– At 31 March 2019
1,351,294
Additions
6,319
Disposals				Depreciation
-

1,281,506
33,342

69,788
6,319
(33,342)

1,357,613

1,314,848

42,765

Balances – At 31 March 2020
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation

25,727
-

24,341

25,727
(24,341)

Balances – At 31 March 2021 				

1,383,340

1,339,189

44,151

Leasehold improvement
Balances - At 31 March 2019				
367,011
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

351,720
15,291

15,291
(15,291)

367,011
792,028
(367,011)
-

367,011
(367,011)
13,200

792,028
(13,200)

Balances – At 31 March 2020
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				
Balances – At 31 March 2021

$792,028

$13,200

778,828
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10.

Property, equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

							
					
Cost
Accumulated
						 Depreciation
Right-of-use assets
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
Additions				
637,061
Disposals				Depreciation				
177,785
Balances – At 31 March 2020				637,061
Additions				Disposals				Depreciation				
-

177,785
177,784

PARENT
Net Book
Value
637,061
(177,785)
459,276
(177,784)

Balance – At 31 March 2021				
$637,061
$355,569
$281,492
								
Summary
Balances – At 31 March 2019				
28,722,403
15,086,666
13,635,737
Additions				
1,341,195
1,341,195
Disposals				
(330,405)
(320,721)
(9,684)
Depreciation				
918,308
(918,308)
Balances – At 31 March 2020				
Additions				
Disposals				
Depreciation				

92

29,733,193
1,157,745
(371,231)
-

15,684,253
(367,011)
998,972

14,048,940
1,157,745
(4,220)
(998,972)

Balances – At 31 March 2021				$30,519,707

$16,316,214

$14,203,493

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

11.

Investment property

									
CONSOLIDATED

							

2021

2020

Land					
$5,096,600
$5,096,600
Building					
909,400
909,400
									
							
$6,006,000
$6,006,000

Rental income earned from the property was $103,164 (2020 - $155,781) and costs totaled $4,303 (2020 $5,078).

12.

Development land for resale

CONSOLIDATED
							

13.

2021

2020

Balance – At beginning of year					
Sold during the year					

$1,599,174
-

$1,599,174
-

Balance – At end of year					

$1,599,174

$1,599,174

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

						 CONSOLIDATED		

PARENT

				Note

2021

2020

2021

2020

Amounts due to deceased members			
Lease Liability		
26
Sundry creditors			
Director of National Insurance			
Audit fees			
Barbados Revenue Authority			

$5,105,647
1,187,030
2,065,867
98,354
23,350
44,517

$4,859,053
1,458,475
1,143,221
100,831
52,100
44,597

$5,105,647
290,713
1,219,959
98,354
23,350
44,517

$4,859,053
467,052
541,164
100,831
52,100
44,597

					 $8,524,765

$7,658,277

$6,782,540

$6,064,797
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14.

Members’ deposits

CONSOLIDATED

							

2021

2020

$224,299,220
306,348,655

$202,172,723
325,568,594

530,647,875
(279,021,617)

527,741,317
(303,442,097)

Balance – At end of year					
251,626,258
Term					 180,007,812

224,299,220
175,560,950

$431,634,070

$399,860,170

Savings
Balance – At beginning of year					
				
Deposits during the year
							
Withdrawals during the year					

							

In accordance with the Credit Union’s lending policies, members, as part of the security requirement for
loans, can pledge deposits which they hold with the Credit Union. In such instances, the deposits that can
be withdrawn on demand are usually restricted to the amount of deposits, which are not pledged. At yearend, total deposits which were pledged, and as such which could not be withdrawn on demand, amounted
to $108,803,959 (2020 - $108,945,275).
At 31 March 2021, the maturity profile of members’ deposits was as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
				 2021
Within 1 year					
$54,030,361
1 – 5 years					
232,785,197
Over 5 years					
144,818,512
							

$431,634,070

$399,860,170

PARENT
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2020
$51,253,453
219,271,855
129,334,862

							
Savings
Balances – At beginning of year					
Deposits during the year					

2021

2020

$225,115,706
306,705,932

$203,314,183
325,568,594

							
Withdrawals during the year					

531,821,638
(279,021,617)

528,882,777
(303,767,071)

Balances – At end of year					
Term					
						
							

252,800,021
180,007,812

225,115,706
175,560,950

$432,807,833

$400,676,656
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14.

Members’ deposits (continued)
In accordance with the Credit Union’s lending policies, members, as part of the security requirement for
loans, can pledge deposits, which they hold with the Credit Union. In such instances, the deposits that
can be withdrawn on demand are usually restricted to the amount of deposits, which are not pledged.
At year-end, total deposits, which were pledged, and as such which could not be withdrawn on demand,
amounted to $108,803,959 (2020 - $107,385,263).
At 31 March 2021, the maturity profile of members’ deposits was as follows:

PARENT
									
							
2021
2020
Within 1 year					
1 – 5 years					
Over 5 years					

$54,409,475
233,033,525
145,364,833

$51,416,751
219,475,976
129,783,929

							

$432,807,833

$400,676,656
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15.

Liabilities qualifying as regulatory capital
At 31 March 2021, the maturity profile of liabilities qualifying as regulatory capital was as follows:
											 CONSOLIDATED
										

2021

2020

Balance – At beginning of year										
Contributions during year										

$ 89,589,609
162,548,159

$ 87,466,407
158,198,293

										
Withdrawals during year										

252,137,768
(156,593,475)

245,664,700
(156,075,091)

										

$95,544,293

$89,589,609		

In accordance with the requirements of IAS
32 and IFRIC 2, share capital is classified
in the financial statements as a liability, as their
terms provide for withdrawal at the option of
the members. Shares are classified as a liability
and the appropriate payments classified as an
expense and presented as a charge in arriving
at net surplus for the period. The change in
classification does not affect the rights and
obligations of the members as set out in the Act
or the Credit Union’s by-laws.

the Credit Union at general meetings. Shares may be
transferred to another member or anyone eligible for
membership with the consent of the Credit Union.
Shares may be withdrawn in whole or part by the
member. However, the Credit Union reserves the right
at any time to require a member to give notice of seven
(7) days, provided that the member does not require
to withdraw any shares used to qualify for a loan and
that act will reduce their shares to an amount below
the current liability to the Credit Union, or the amount
used to qualify as borrower, co-maker or guarantor.

Shares in the Credit Union entitle each member
to one vote in the conduct of the affairs of
CONSOLIDATED
				 2020
Within 1 year				
1 – 5 years				
Over 5 years				
						

16.

2019

$25,876,998
25,876,997
37,835,614

$25,274,222
25,274,222
36,917,963

$89,589,609

$87,466,407

Statutory reserve

Section 197(2) of the Co-operative Societies (Amendment) Act 2007-39 requires that an appropriation
equivalent to the greater of 0.5% of total assets, or 25% of net surplus shall be credited to the reserve fund
annually, until capital equals 10% of total assets. The appropriation may be increased to amount to 40%
of net surplus or 1% of total assets in certain circumstances. Entrance fees are credited directly to the
Statutory Reserve.
		
During the year ended 31 March 2021, $503,529 (2020 - $1,492,410) have been transferred to the Statutory
Reserve Fund.
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17.

Special funds

CONSOLIDATED
Balances at
Beginning
of Year

Transfer

Amounts
Utilised

Common good fund			
$ 1,977
Co-operative education fund			
51,478
Co-operative development fund			
44,964
C.O.B Cares			
108,547
Membership assistance fund			
335,280

$ 60,000
50,000
20,000
200,000
200,000

$ (61,977)
(25,000)
(113,250)
(126,774)

$ 530,000

$(327,001)

Total 			

$ 542,246

Balance at
End of Year
$

76,478
64,964
195,297
408,506

$ 745,245

Common good fund
This fund is to be used for donation to community efforts, charitable causes and other purposes which
coincide with the Credit Union’s community and social responsibility. Donations made during the year
ended 31 March 2021 of $61,977 (2020 - $46,725) have been charged against the available funds.
Co-operative education and national
development fund
The Co-operative education fund was established
by appropriations out of the undivided surplus
in accordance with a resolution of members in
June 2002.
In accordance with a directive issued by the
Registrar of Co-operative Societies, an amount
of not less than the greater of 1% of a credit
union’s net surplus or $100 is to be appropriated
annually to a co-operative education and
national development fund for the purpose of
financing the training and education of the Credit
Union’s members and the general public in the
philosophy and operations of co-operatives.
During the year ended 31 March 2021 an
amount of $25,000 (2020 - $20,000) was paid to
the Barbados Co-operative Credit Union League
Limited out of the fund.

C.O.B CARES
C.O.B CARES is a program designed for persons
from birth to 25 years of age. Developed in 3
stages, it caters to categories of persons less
than 12 years of age, 12 to 17 years of age and
young adults 18 to 25 years of age. It is a savings
program that provides the opportunity to earn
scholarships at Common Entrance, Caribbean
Examinations Council, Caribbean Advanced
Proficiency Examinations, University of the West
Indies, Barbados Community College and Samuel
Jackman Prescod Polytechnic. During the year
ended 31 March 2021 an amount of $113,250
(2020 - $163,053) was paid under this program.
Membership assistance fund
Annually, the equivalent of the lower of $5 per
member or 2.5% of the surplus from operations
is allocated to this fund. The fund is aimed at
providing financial assistance to members who
are deemed to be in a weak financial position.
During the year ended 31 March 2021 an amount
of $126,774 (2020 - $63,462) was utilised under
this fund.
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18.

Savings and loans benefit fund
The savings and loans benefit fund was established in 1994 to provide loan protection and life savings
benefits for the members of the Credit Union. The assets of the fund are separately maintained.
Details are:
CONSOLIDATED

19.

								

2021

2020

Balance – At beginning of year								

$ 49,988

$ 281,215

Claims incurred								
Claims paid								

720,000
(457,766)

390,000
(621,227)

Net change								

262,234

(231,277)

Balance – At end of year								

$312,222

$49,988

2021

2020

Distributions
Approved at Annual General meeting June 2020

					

Dividend Rate								
Estimated amount								
Actual amount paid in June 2020								

2.25%		
2,100,000
$ 2,172,244

A dividend shall be paid only on the shares fully paid up and outstanding on the last day of the preceding
year, provided always that a member shall be deemed to have ten (10) fully paid shares of $5 each and
consequently the dividend paid will differ from the estimated amount which is based on the situation, as
at the end of the financial year. In accordance with a resolution of the members at the Annual General
Meeting held in July 2005, there is no maximum limit that can be appropriated for the payment of dividends
in any year.
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20.

Financial risk management
Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Credit Union’s activities
but is managed through a process of on-going
identification, measurement and monitoring,
subject to risk limits and other controls. This
process of risk management is critical to the
Credit Union’s continuing profitability and each
employee of the Credit Union is accountable
for the risk exposures relating to his or her
responsibilities. The Credit Union is exposed
to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and
operational risk.
The Credit Union’s aim therefore is to achieve
an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on its
financial performance.
The independent risk control process does not
include business risks such as changes in the
environment, technology and industry. The
Credit Union’s policy is to monitor those business
risks through its strategic planning process.
Risk management structure
The Board of Directors is responsible for the
overall risk management approach and for
approving the risk management strategies and
principles.
The Supervisory Committee has the responsibility
to monitor the overall risk process within the
Credit Union.
The Credit Union’s policy is that risk management
processes are audited annually by the Internal
Audit function, which examines both the
adequacy of the processes and the Credit
Union’s compliance with the processes. Internal
Audit discusses the results of all assessments
with management, and reports its findings
and recommendations to the Supervisory
Committee.
Risk mitigation

The Credit Union also has sought long term
funding requirements to match their long-term
loan position.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of
risk, the Credit Union’s policies and procedures
include specific guidelines to focus on
maintaining a diversified portfolio.
Credit risk
Loans and advances
The Credit Union employs a range of policies and
practices to mitigate credit risk relating to loans
and advances. The most traditional of these is
the taking of security for funds advanced. The
principal collateral types for loans and advances
within the Credit Union are:
-

Mortgages over residential properties

-

Charges over financial instruments such
as debt securities and equities

-

Charges over business assets such as
premises

-

Hypothecation of deposit balances

It is the Credit Union’s policy to dispose of
repossessed properties in an orderly fashion.
The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the
outstanding claims. The Credit Union does not
occupy repossessed properties for business use.
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss,
should any of the Group’s members, fail to
fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group.
Credit risk arises mainly from consumer loans
and advances, and loan commitments arising
from such lending activities.
The Group is also exposed to other credit risks
arising from investments in debt securities and
other exposures arising from its trading activities
(‘trading exposures’) including non-equity trading
portfolio assets.

As part of its overall risk management, the
Credit Union invests a portion of its available
funds in lending, financial investments and nonearning assets. The Credit Union’s main source
of income is derived from lending and it seeks
to actively use collateral to reduce its credit risk.
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Definition of default and cure
The Group considers a financial instrument
defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (creditimpaired) for ECL calculations in all cases when
the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its
contractual payments. As a part of a qualitative
assessment of whether a member is in default,
the Group also considers a variety of instances
that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When
such events occur, the Group carefully considers
whether the event should result in treating the
member as defaulted and therefore assessed as
Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is
appropriate. Such events include:
•
•

Internal rating of the borrower indicating
default or near-default
The borrower requesting emergency
funding from the Group

•

The borrower having past due liabilities to
public creditors or employees

•

The borrower is deceased

•

A material decrease in the underlying
collateral value where the recovery of
the loan is expected from the sale of the
collateral

•

A material decrease in the borrower’s
turnover or the loss of a major customer

•

A covenant breach not waived by the
Group

•

The debtor (or any legal entity within
the debtor’s group) filing for bankruptcy
application/protection

•

Debtor’s listed debt or equity suspended at
the primary exchange because of rumours
or facts about financial difficulties

It is the Group’s policy to consider a financial
instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified
out of Stage 3 when none of the default criteria
have been present for at least twelve consecutive
months. The decision whether to classify an asset
as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the
obligor risk rating (ORR) if available or the days
past due and delinquency criteria in the Group’s
100

policy, at the time of the cure, and whether this
indicates there has been a significant increase in
credit risk compared to initial recognition.
Credit risk measurement
Loans and advances (incl. loan commitments
and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure for risk
management purposes is complex and requires
the use of models, as the exposure varies with
changes in market conditions, expected cash
flows and the passage of time. The assessment of
credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further
estimations as to the likelihood of defaults
occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of
default correlations between counterparties.
The Group measures credit risk using Probability
of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and
Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the
approach used for the purposes of measuring
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to
note 4 for more details.
Credit risk grading
The Group uses internal credit risk gradings that
reflect its assessment of the probability of default
of individual counterparties. The Group uses
internal rating models tailored to the various
categories of counterparty. Borrower and loan
specific information collected at the time of
application (such as disposable income, and level
of collateral for retail exposures; and turnover
and industry type for wholesale exposures) is
fed into this rating model. This is supplemented
with external data such as credit bureau scoring
information on individual borrowers. In addition,
the models enable expert judgement from the
Chief Risk Officer to be fed into the final internal
credit rating for each exposure. This allows for
considerations which may not be captured as
part of the other data inputs into the model. The
credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of
default increases exponentially at each higher
risk grade.

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

20.

Financial risk management (continued)

Expected credit loss measurement

Credit risk (continued)

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for
impairment based on changes in credit quality
since initial recognition as summarised below:

Mortgage loans
After the date of initial recognition, for
consumer loans, the payment behaviour of the
borrower is monitored on a periodic basis to
develop a behavioural score. Any other known
information about the borrower which impacts
their creditworthiness – Such as unemployment
and previous delinquency history – is also
incorporated into the behavioural score. This
score is mapped to a PD.
Consumer loans
For consumer loans, the rating is determined at
the borrower level. A relationship manager will
incorporate any updated or new information/
credit assessments into the credit system on
an ongoing basis. In addition, the relationship
manager will also update information about
the creditworthiness of the borrower every year
from sources such as public financial statements.
This will determine the updated internal credit
rating and PD.
Debt securities
For debt securities, yield curves published by the
Barbados Central Bank are used. These published
yield curves are continuously monitored and
updated. The PD’s associated with each grade
are determined based on realised default rates
over the prior 12 months, based on the published
yield curves.

•

A financial instrument that is not
credit-impaired on initial recognition is
classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group.

•

If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’)
since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage
2’ but is not yet deemed to be creditimpaired.

•

If the financial instrument is creditimpaired, the financial instrument is then
moved to ‘Stage 3’. Financial instruments
in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that result from
default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have
their ECL measured based on expected
credit losses on a lifetime basis.

•

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information.

•

Purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets are those financial
assets that are credit- impaired on initial
recognition. Their ECL is always measured
on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

The following diagram summarises the
impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

(Initial recognition)

(Significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition)

(Credit-impaired assets)

12-month expected credit losses

Lifetime expected credit losses

Lifetime expected credit losses
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Expected credit loss measurement
(continued)
Definition of default and credit-impaired
assets
The Group defines a financial instrument as in
default, which is fully aligned with the definition
of credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of
the following criteria:
Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on
its contractual payments
Qualitative criteria
•

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay
criteria, which indicates the borrower is
in significant financial difficulty. These are
instances where:

•

The borrower is in long-term for bearance

•

The borrower is deceased

•

The borrower is insolvent

•

The borrower is in breach of financial
covenant(s)

An active market for that financial asset has
disappeared because of financial difficulties.
Concessions have been made by the lender
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty.
An instrument is considered to no longer be in
default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer
meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive
period of six months. This period of six months
has been determined based on an analysis which
considers the likelihood of a financial instrument
returning to default status after cure using
different possible cure definitions.
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Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured
on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis
depending on whether a significant increase in
credit risk has occurred since initial recognition
or whether an asset is considered to be creditimpaired. Expected credit losses are the
discounted product of the Probability of Default
(PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given
Default (LGD), defined as follows:
The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower
defaulting on its financial obligation, either
over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.
EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects
to be owed at the time of default, over the next
12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD).
Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the
Group’s expectation of the extent of loss
on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of
counterparty, type and seniority of claim and
availability of collateral or other credit support.
LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit
of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is
calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, where
12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected
to be made if the default occurs in the next 12
months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of
loss expected to be made if the default occurs
over the remaining expected lifetime of the
loan. The ECL is determined by projecting the
PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for
each individual exposure or collective segment.
These three components are multiplied together
and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e.
the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an
earlier month).
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)

•

Credit risk (continued)
Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Group employs a range of policies and
practices to mitigate credit risk. The most
common of these is accepting collateral for funds
advanced. The Group has internal policies on the
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or
credit risk mitigation.
The Group prepares a valuation of the collateral
obtained as part of the loan origination process.
This assessment is reviewed periodically. The
principal collateral types for loans and advances
are:
•

Mortgages over residential properties;

•

Charges over business
as premises, inventory
receivable; and Charges
instruments such as debt
equities.

Collateral held as security for financial
assets other than loans and advances
depends on the nature of the instrument.
Debt securities, treasury and other eligible
bills are generally unsecured, with the
exception of asset-backed securities and
similar instruments, which are secured by
portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining
collateral have not significantly changed during
the reporting period and there has been no
significant change in the overall quality of the
collateral held by the Group since the prior
period.

assets such
and accounts
over financial
securities and

Loans and advances
2021
						Mortgages

Consumer

Total

Performing loans						
Impaired loans						

227,653,429
40,911,036

81,838,725
8,655,000

309,492,154
49,566,036

Gross loans						
Less: Expected credit loss allowances					

268,564,465
(7,451,654)

90,493,725
(2,510,612)

359,058,190
(9,962,266)

						

261,112,811

87,983,113

349,095,924

2020
						Mortgages

Consumer

Total

Performing loans						
Impaired loans						

229,537,629
34,278,298

85,839,745
7,038,388

315,377,374
41,316,686

Gross loans						
Less: Expected credit loss allowances					

263,815,927
(3,562,157)

92,878,133
(3,676,902)

356,694,060
(7,239,059)

						260,253,770

89,201,231

349,455,001
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk
The following table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use
of master netting and collateral arrangements. Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the
amounts shown represent the current credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could
arise in the future as a result of changes in values.
Loans and advances							2021
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Loans to members							
Investments at amortised cost							
Cash resources							
Term deposits							
Equity investments at FVOCI							

$349,095,924
51,551,020
99,281,368
39,989,251
7,138,234

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:
Loan commitments: Mortgage loans approved and pending disbursement		
Available balances on line of credit accounts				

11,547,466
6,498,739

Total maximum exposure							

$565,102,002

2020
$349,455,001
49,758,689
72,605,320
34,413,974
6,579,547

19,067,176		
6,211,260
$538,090,967
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality
A credit scoring methodology is used to assess
mortgages and consumer loans. This risk-rating
system is used for portfolio management,
risk-limit setting, product pricing, and in the
determination of economic capital.
The effectiveness of the risk-rating system and
the parameters associated with the risk ratings
are monitored within Risk Management and are
subject to an annual review.

Loans and advances to members
Mortgages
Consumer

At the reporting date, investment securities
were all rated standard or high grade, with the
exception of Barbados Government securities
were classified as purchased originated credit
impaired (‘POCI’). Cash balances are held with
counterparties that are high grade.
The table below shows the credit quality by
class of asset for gross loans and advances
to members, based on an ageing analysis
of the portfolio. Amounts provided are before
allowance for credit losses, after credit risk
mitigation, valuation adjustments related to
the financial guarantors, and collateral on
agreements.

Current to 30
High grade

31 to 60
Standard

61 to 89
Substandard

90 +
Impaired

Total
2021

$200,117,855
75,692,204

27,265,602
6,049,917

269,972
96,604

40,911,036
8,655,000

268,564,465
90,493,725

275,810,059

33,315,519

366,576

49,566,036

359,058,190

						
Current to 30
31 to 60
61 to 89
90 +
Total
High grade
Standard
Substandard
Impaired
2020
Loans and advances to members
Mortgages
Consumer

$209,056,503
80,673,996

16,914,505
4,391,981

3,566,621
773,768

34,278,298
7,038,388

263,815,927
92,878,133

289,730,499

21,306,486

4,340,389

41,316,686

356,694,060
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)

Commitments and guarantees

Credit risk (continued)

To meet the financial needs of customers, the
Credit Union enters into various irrevocable
commitments and contingent liabilities. Even
though these obligations may not be recognised
on the statement of financial position, they do
contain credit risk and are therefore part of the
overall risk of the Credit Union.

Loans with renegotiated terms and the Credit
Union’s forbearance policy
Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that
have been restructured due to deterioration
in the borrower’s financial position, where the
Credit union has concessions by agreeing to
terms and conditions that are more favourable
for the borrower than the Credit Union has
provided initially. The Credit union implements
a forbearance policy in order to maximise
collection opportunities and minimise the risk of
default. Under the Credit Unions’ forbearance
policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective
basis in situations where the member is currently
in default of its debt, or where there is a high
risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor
made all the reasonable efforts to pay under the
original contractual terms and it is expected to
be able to meet the revised terms.
Write-off policy
The Credit Union writes off a loan or an
investment debt security balance, and any
related allowances for impairment losses, when
it is determined that the loan or security is
uncollectible. This determination is made after
considering information such as occurrence of
significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s
financial position such that the borrower/
issuer can no longer pay the obligation or the
proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to
repay the entire exposure. For smaller balance
standardised loans, write-off decisions generally
are based on a product-specific past due status.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the
Credit Union will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of
the possibility that the Credit Union might be
unable to meet its payment obligations when
they fall due under both normal and stress
circumstances. To limit this risk, management
has arranged diversified funding sources in
addition to its core deposit base, and adopted a
policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind
and of monitoring future cash flows and liquidity
on a daily basis. The Credit Union has developed
internal control processes and contingency plans
for managing liquidity risk.
This incorporates an assessment of expected
cash flows and the availability of high grade
collateral which could be used to secure
additional funding if required.
The Credit Union maintains a portfolio of
highly marketable and diverse assets that are
assumed to be easily liquidated in the event of
an unforeseen interruption of cash flow.
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Credit Union’s
financial assets and liabilities as of 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.
2021
CONSOLIDATED

			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months 3 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years Carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term Deposits		
Accounts receivable and
prepaid expenses		
Loans to members		
Financial Investments		

$99,281,368
-

39,989,251

-

-

$99,281,368
39,989,251

42,496,409
-

5,084,174
1,418,837
-

38,303,614
6,776,934

387,707,933
49,660,339

5,084,174
469,926,793
56,437,273

Total assets		

$141,777,777

46,492,262

45,080,548

437,368,272

670,718,859

35,482,281
-

18,548,080
8,524,765
-

232,785,197
3,390,200

144,818,512
-

431,634,070
8,524,765
3,390,200

Total liabilities		

$35,482,281

27,072,845

236,175,397

144,818,512

443,549,035

		

$106,295,496

$19,419,417 $(191,094,849)

$292,549,760

$227,169,824

Deposits		
Loan payable		
Accounts payable		
Shares		
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)
2020
	

CONSOLIDATED

			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months 3 to 12 months

Over 5 years Carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term Deposits		
Accounts receivable and
prepaid expenses		
Loans to members		
Financial Investments		

$72,605,320
-

34,413,974

-

-

$72,605,320
34,413,974

42,496,409
-

3,476,100
1,432,097
-

39,118,585
6,776,934

436,854,009
49,660,339

3,476,100
519,901,100
56,437,273

Total assets		

$115,101,729

39,322,171

45,895,519

486,514,348

686,833,767

31,654,786
67,144
-

19,657,463
6,452,383
-

220,258,578
925,292
3,332,950

128,035,395
213,458
-

399,606,222
7,658,277
3,332,950

Total liabilities		

$31,721,930

26,109,846

224,516,820

128,248,853

410,597,449

		

$83,379,799

$13,212,325 $(178,621,301)

$358,265,495

$276,236,318

Deposits		
Accounts payable		
Shares		
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)
2021

	
			Remaining to maturity

PARENT

		

Within 3 months

3 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term deposits		
Accounts receivable
and prepaid expenses		
Loans to members		
Financial Investments		

$98,697,642
-

42,976,590

-

-

98,697,642
42,976,590

42,496,409
-

3,735,166
1,418,837
-

38,303,614
5,474,639

387,707,933
49,660,339

3,735,166
469,926,793
55,134,978

Total assets		

$141,194,051

48,130,593

43,778,253

437,368,272

670,471,169

$31,777,259
-

10,592,420
6,782,540
-

52,962,098
3,390,200

129,783,929
-

225,115,706
6,782,540
3,390,200

31,777,259

17,374,960

56,352,298

129,783,929

235,288,446

$30,755,633 $(12,574,045)

$307,584,343

$435,182,723

Deposits		
Accounts payable		
Shares		
Total liabilities		
		

$109,416,792

Over 5 years Carrying value

109

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (continued)
2020
PARENT
			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months

3 - 12 months

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years Carrying Value

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term deposits		
Accounts receivable and
prepaid expenses		
Loans to members		
Financial investments		

$72,540,723
-

33,767,461

-

-

$72,540,723
33,767,461

42,496,409
-

2,402,141
1,432,097
-

39,118,585
5,528,312

436,854,009
50,624,617

2,402,141
519,901,100
56,152,929

Total assets		

115,037,132

37,601,699

44,646,897

487,478,626

684,764,354

Deposits		
$31,777,259
Loan Payable		
Accounts payable		
43,622
Shares		

10,624,197
5,744,183
-

53,200,428
276,992
3,332,950

130,757,309
-

226,359,193
6,064,797
3,332,950

Total liabilities		

$31,820,881

16,368,380

56,810,370

130,757,309

235,756,940

		

$83,216,251

$21,233,319

$(12,163,473)

$356,721,317

$449,007,414

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables such as interest rates, equity prices and foreign exchange rates. The Credit
Union is mainly exposed to interest rate and equity price risks. The Credit Union’s exposure to currency
risk is minimal since it does not have any significant foreign currency denominated assets.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss from the fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. It arises when there is a mis-match between
interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustments,
within a specified period. It can be reflected as a loss of future net interest income and/or a loss of current
market values.
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)



CONSOLIDATED
Exposure to interest rate risks
				2021		 2020
Cash
			
0.15%
Investments 						 0.65% - 2.00%
Loans to members
		
			 4.75% - 18.00%
Loan payable						
5.50%
Members’ deposits						 0.25% - 1.85%

A summary of the Credit Union’s interest rate gap position is as follows:
2021
CONSOLIDATED
			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months

3 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years Carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term deposits		
Financial Investments		
Loans to members		
Accounts receivable		
Interest Due and accrued		

$99,281,368
41,009,876
-

34,413,974
1,824,341
5,084,174
1,587,911

7,338,234
33,139,653
-

51,351,020
273,122,054
-

$99,281,368
34,413,974
58,689,254
349,095,924
5,084,174
1,587,911

Total assets		

$140,291,244

48,485,677

40,477,887

324,473,074

553,727,882

Members’ deposits		
Regulatory capital		
Interest payable		
Accounts payable		

35,482,281
18,432,079
36,556
1,012,359

18,548,080
9,216,039
146,220
5,065,983

232,785,197
27,648,118
182,779
2,268,843

144,818,512
40,248,057
177,580

431,634,070
95,544,293
365,555
8,524,765

Total liabilities		

$54,963,275

32,976,322

262,884,937

185,244,149

536,068,683

		

$85,327,969

$15,509,355

$(222,407,050) $139,228,925

$17,659,199
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risks (continued)
A summary of the Credit Union’s interest rate gap position (continued)
2020

CONSOLIDATED
			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months

3 to 12 months

$72,605,320
42,496,409
-

34,413,974
1,326,016
3,476,100
1,236,095

Total assets		

$115,101,729

$40,452,185

Members’ deposits		
Regulatory capital		
Interest payable		
Accounts payable		

31,654,787
17,251,331
32,344
67,144

19,598,667
8,625,666
129,373
6,452,383

Total liabilities		

$49,005,606

		

$66,096,123

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term deposits		
Investments		
Loans to members		
Accounts receivable		
Interest due and accrued		
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1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value
6,579,547
32,598,820
-

49,758,689
273,033,756
-

$72,605,320
34,413,974
56,338,236
349,455,001
3,476,100
1,236,095

$39,178,367 $322,792,445

$517,524,726

219,271,855
25,876,998
161,717
925,292

129,334,861
37,835,614
213,458

399,860,170
89,589,609
323,434
7,658,277

$34,806,089

$246,235,862 $167,383,933

$497,431,490

$5,646,096

$(207,057,495) $155,408,512

$20,093,236
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risks (continued)
A summary of the Credit Union’s interest rate gap position (continued)
2021

PARENT
			Remaining to maturity
		

Within 3 months 3 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years Carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents 		
Term deposits		
Financial investments		
Loans to members		
Accounts receivable		
Interest Due and accrued		

$98,697,642
41,009,876
-

42,976,590
1,824,341
3,735,166
1,587,911

6,125,980
33,139,653
-

51,351,020
273,122,054
-

$98,697,642
42,976,590
57,477,000
349,095,924
3,735,166
1,587,911

Total assets		

139,707,518

50,124,008

39,265,633

324,473,074

553,570,233

Members’ deposits		
Regulatory capital		
Interest payable		
Accounts payable		
Loans payable		

35,811,730
18,432,079
36,556
644,480
-

18,597,745
9,216,039
146,220
4,189,119
-

233,033,525
27,648,118
182,779
1,288,960
-

145,364,833
40,248,057
659,981
-

432,807,833
95,544,293
365,555
6,782,540
-

Total liabilities		

54,924,845

32,149,123

262,153,382

186,272,871

535,500,221

		

$84,782,673

$17,974,885 $(222,887,749)

$138,200,203

$18,070,012

113

CITY OF BRIDGETOWN CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended 31 March 2021 (expressed in Barbados dollars)

20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risks (continued)
A summary of the Credit Union’s interest rate gap position (continued)
2020

PARENT
			Remaining to maturity
		

114

Within 3 months 3 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years Carrying value

Cash and cash equivalents		
Term deposits		
Financial Investments		
Loans to members		
Accounts receivable		
Interest due and accrued		

$72,540,723
42,496,409
-

33,767,461
1,326,016
2,402,141
1,236,095

5,367,294
32,598,820
-

49,758,689
273,033,756
-

$72,540,723
33,767,461
55,125,983
349,455,001
2,402,141
1,236,095

Total assets		

115,037,132

38,731,713

37,966,114

322,792,445

514,527,404

Members’ deposits		
Regulatory capital		
Interest payable		
Accounts payable		

31,777,259
17,251,331
32,344
43,622

19,639,492
8,625,666
129,373
5,744,183

219,475,976
25,876,998
161,717
276,992

129,783,929
37,835,614
-

400,676,656
89,589,609
323,434
6,064,797

Total liabilities		

49,104,556

34,138,714

245,791,683

167,619,543

496,654,496

		

$65,932,576

$4,592,999 $(207,825,569)

$155,172,902

$17,872,908
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect
loss arising from a wide variety of causes
associated with the Credit Union’s processes,
personnel, technology and infrastructure, and
from external factors other than credit, market
and liquidity risks such as those arising from
legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour.
While operational risk is inherent to each
of the Credit Union’s business activities, the
exposure is minimised by ensuring that the
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems
and human resources are in place. Key policies
and procedures used in managing operation
risk involve a strong internal audit function,
segregation of duties, delegation of authority
and financial management reporting.
Within the Credit Union, mitigation of operational
risk is assigned to senior management supported
by a well-defined organisational structure that
segregates operational and administrative
functions. Back-up capabilities are also
maintained to ensure on-going service delivery
in adverse circumstances.
In addition, periodic reviews are undertaken by
the Internal Audit Department. The results of
the reviews are discussed with management of
the business unit to which they relate, senior
management and Board of Directors.
Compliance risk
Compliance risk encompasses regulatory and
legal compliance risk. Compliance risk is the risk
that the Group incurs financial or reputational
risk through imposition of penalties or fines
as a result of not adhering to applicable laws;
rules and regulations and good market practise
(including ethical standards). The Group’s
compliance function proactively seeks to
enhance compliance risk management and
the supporting control framework. The Group
operates in a market where there is a significant
level of regulatory change activity, therefore
compliance risk is a key area of focus for Senior
Management. The compliance function monitors
this risk through reference to metrics relevant
to the Credit Union, review of incident reports
and assessments, risk and control assessments
pertaining to the first and second lines of defence

functions, results of regulatory assessments, and
review of results internal audit and external audit
reports. Remediation of controls is conducted in
a timely manner.
Fair value
Fair value represents the amounts at which a
financial instrument could be exchanged in an
arm’s length transaction between willing parties
and is best evidenced by a quoted market price,
if one exists.
Financial assets and liabilities are carried at
amounts which approximate to their fair value
at the statement of financial position date.
Fair value estimates are made at a specific
point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instrument.
These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant
judgement and therefore, cannot be determined
with precision. Changes in assumptions could
significantly affect the estimates.
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities,
together with the carrying amounts shown in the
statement of financial position are as follows:
For financial assets and financial liabilities that
are liquid or have short term maturity, it is
assumed that the carrying amounts approximate
to their fair value. These include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivables and accounts
payable. The fair value of debt securities is based
on quoted prices, where available or otherwise
based on an appropriate yield curve with the
same remaining term to maturity. The fair value
of loans and advances largely approximates
carrying value as the Credit Union’s portfolio
comprises mainly variable rate loans. The fair
value of deposits largely approximates carrying
value as the Credit Union’s portfolio comprises
mainly variable rate deposits.
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value
hierarchy
The Credit Union uses the following hierarchy
for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities:
The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Credit Union
is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in Level 1.
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs
which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
that are not based on observable market data.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in Level 3.
Equity investments that do not have quoted
market prices in an active market and where
other methods of determining fair value do not
result in a reasonable estimate are measured at
amortised cost, less impairment losses (Levels 2
and 3).

The table below presents the Credit Union’s financial assets that are measured at fair value: CONSOLIDATED
2021				

Level 1		

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Fair value through OCI
– equity investments				

$1,866,588		

$5,221,646

$50,000

$7,138,234

$2,066,350		

$4,513,198

$50,000

$6,629,548

2020
Assets
Fair value through OCI
– equity investments				
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20.

Financial risk management (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy (continued)
PARENT
2021				

Level 1		

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Fair value through OCI
– equity investments				

$1,866,588		

$4,009,392

$50,000

$5,925,980

$2,016,350		

$3,300,944

$50,000

$5,367,294

2020
Assets
Fair value through OCI
– equity investments				

There was no movement in Level 3 financial assets.

21.

Pension contribution
Effective 1 January 2004, the Credit Union established a defined contribution plan for its employees.
Contributions of the plan are managed by an insurance company under a Trust Deed. Total pension
expense for the year ended 31 March 2021 was $116,264 (2020 - $116,482). The Credit Union makes
monthly contributions to the plan equal to the amounts accrued for pension expense.

22.

Staff costs, compensation and transactions with key management personnel
Staff and compensation costs for key management personnel are as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
							

2021

2020

Salaries and wages							
National insurance							
Pensions							
Health and life insurance							

$1,870,546
115,289
57,924
40,620

$2,014,607
116,494
60,123
40,620

							

$2,084,379

$2,231,844

The outstanding balances with key management personnel at year end are as follows:			
2021

2020

Loans to members							

$3,285,128

$5,486,894

Members’ deposits							

$700,186

$1,409,381
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23.

Tax Losses
The subsidiary has tax losses of $156,581 (2020 – $212,217) available to be carried forward and set off
against future taxable income. The losses have not been agreed with The Barbados Revenue Authority,
but are not in dispute. The losses and their expiry dates are as follows:-

Year		
Amount		
			
2012		
$156,581		

Expiry Date
Year of income 2021

			
The deferred tax asset associated with losses of $8,612 (2020 - $11,672) has not been booked as
management is unable to determine the timing of any future taxable profits against which the assets may
be utilised.

24.

Taxation on Income
								

2021

Statement of comprehensive income:							

$

-

2020
$

-

The tax on the Group’s net income before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the basic tax rate for Barbados as follows:								

2021

2020

Income before taxation								

$ 2,116,107

$4,372,008

Tax calculated at statutory rate 3.0 to 5.5% (2020 – 3.0 to 5.5%)				
Tax effect of loss not subject to tax								
Tax losses utilised								

88,483
(85,423)
(3,060)

156,160
(154,289)
(1,871)

								
									

25.

$

-

$

-

Capital Management
The Credit Union’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the
face of the statement of financial position, are:
•

To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of financial institutions where the
Credit Union operates

•

To safeguard the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns to its shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders, and

•

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Credit Union’s management,
employing techniques based on policies and guidelines regulated by the Co-operative Societies Act. The
Credit Union’s approach to managing capital did not change during the year.
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26.

Leases
The Credit Union has a lease contract for lease of building used in its operations. Before the adoption of
IFRS 16, the Credit Union classified the lease as an operating lease.
The Credit Union’s obligation under this lease is secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally,
the Credit Union is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased asset.
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the
period:

					
		
CONSOLIDATED		PARENT
2021

2020

2021

2020

Balance at April 1, 2020
Addition
Depreciation expense

1,434,058
(286,093)

1,720,152
(286,094)

459,276
(177,784)

637,061
(177,785)

As at March 31, 2021

1,147,965

1,434,058

281,492

459,276

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:		CONSOLIDATED		

PARENT

2021

2020

2021

2020

Balance at April 1, 2020
Addition
Accretion of interest
Payments

1,458,475
48,280
(319,725)

1,720,152
58,048
(319,725)

467,052
13,721
(190,060)

637,061
20,051
(190,060)

As at March 31, 2021

1,147,965

1,434,058

281,492

459,276
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26.

Leases (continued)
		
CONSOLIDATED		PARENT
Maturity analysis for lease liabilities
2021
2020
2021
2020
Current
1 to 5 years
Over 5 years
Total

319,725
867,305
-

319,725
925,292
213,458

190,060
100,653
-

190,060
276,992
-

1,187,030

1,458,475

290,713

467,052

The following are the amounts recognised in the Statement of Income:
							CONSOLIDATED		PARENT
Maturity analysis for lease liabilities
2021
2020
2021
2020
Depreciation expense
Interest expense on lease liabilities
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$ 286,093
48,280

$ 286,094
58,048

$ 177,784
13,721

$177,785
20,051
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